
 

 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  
  

CCoommmmiitttteeee  ooff  tthhee  WWhhoollee  ––  66::3300  pp..mm..    

RReegguullaarr  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  MMeeeettiinngg  ––  77::0000  pp..mm..  
 

  

  MMAAYYOORR                CCIITTYY  CCLLEERRKK 
        Bryce Ward 888-4444      Kathy Weber, MMC  488-8583  

 

  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  MMEEMMBBEERRSS               
Michael Welch-  Mayor Pro Tem    488-5834 

Thomas McGhee- Deputy Mayor Pro Tem        455-0010 

Preston Smith – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 488-8824 

Elizabeth Holm     488-6125 

Sharron Hunter       978-5591 

 Kevin McCarthy    590-0800      

 

            
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 

  

2. Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag   
 National Anthem sung by  NPMS Choir- 

 

3. Invocation   
  

4. Approval of the Agenda 

 

5. Approval of the Minutes  

  

6. Communications from the Mayor 

 Bill of Rights – Mr. Wade’s 5
th

 grade class 

 

7.   Council Member Questions of the Mayor 

 

8.   Communications from Department Heads, Borough Representative and the City Clerk  

   

9.   Ongoing Projects Report 
 

CCIITTYY  OOFF  NNOORRTTHH  PPOOLLEE  

AAllaasskkaa  
  

RREEGGUULLAARR  CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  MMEEEETTIINNGG  
MMoonnddaayy,,  DDeecceemmbbeerr  1155,,  22001144  

 

   
 

 

 

  

  

  

  



 

 

10. Citizens Comments (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 

 

11. Old Business 
    

12.  New Business 

a. Ordinance 14-29, An ordinance amending Title 8 – Health & Safety, Section 04.160 – Disturbing 

the Peace 

 

b. Resolution 14-21, A Resolution establishing the 2015 City of North Pole Bed Tax grant 

distribution 

 

c. Resolution 14-22, A Resolution affirming the priorities of the Interior Gas Utility that looks to the 

Governor and State Legislator to provide the leadership and necessary financial assistance to 

achieve the goals of $15 mcf gas to North Pole and the Interior of Alaska  

 

13.  Executive Session 

 a.  To discuss payroll issues in Administration 

 

14.  Council Comments 

  

15.  Adjournment 

 

The City of North Pole will provide an interpreter at City Council meetings for hearing impaired 

individuals.  The City does require at least 48 hours’ notice to arrange for this service.  All such requests are 

subject to the availability of an interpreter.  All City Council meetings are recorded on CD.  These CD’s are 

available for listening or duplication at the City Clerk’s Office during regular business hours, Monday 

through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. or can be purchased for $5.00 per CD. The City Clerk’s Office is 

located in City Hall at, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska.  



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   1 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 

      Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, November 24, 2014 in 

the Council Chambers of City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

Mayor Ward called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, November 24, 2014 to order at 

7:00 p.m. 

 

There were present:     Absent/Excused 

Ms. Holm       

Ms. Hunter       

Mr. McCarthy           

Mr. McGhee       

Mr. Smith       

Mr. Welch         

Mayor Ward       

     

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 

Led by Mayor Ward 

National Anthem sung by NPMS Choir members – 

 

INVOCATION  
Invocation was given by Councilman McGhee 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

Mr. McGhee moved to Approve the Agenda of November 24, 2014 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion  

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend to postpone item b. under Executive Session to the meeting of 

December 1, 2014. 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Mr. Welch felt the council did not have enough information. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   2 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

FAILED 

Yes:  3 - Holm, McGhee, Welch 

No:  4- McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

Absent:  0 

 

On the main Motion 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7- McGhee, Holm, Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mr. Welch moved to Approve the minutes of November 4, 2014 

 

Seconded by Mr. McGhee 

 

Discussion   

None 

  

PASSED 

YES – 7– McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, McGhee, Welch, Holm, Ward 

NO – 0 

Absent – 0 -  

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 

Bed Tax Grant applications were due in October and we have received 6 applications.  The 

Council presentations are scheduled for Wednesday Dec 3
rd 

and will begin promptly at 6:30 pm.   

All applicants have been informed.  The council will approve allocations on the next scheduled 

council meeting (Dec 15
th

).   

 

On November 12
th

 I walked through the Flint Hills Refinery with the Fairbanks North Star 

Borough Assessors.  The Assessors are the ones who determine the value of the refinery property 

for the 2015 tax year.  Determination is not expected until late December and final determination 

may not be until end of February however, indications from those present lead me to believe we 

could see as much as a 50% reduction in the value of the Refinery.  I have adjustments for the 

council to consider later in the meeting.   

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   3 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

As for determining the value of the property we are subject to the determination made by the 

FNSB assessing department.  The formula for calculating a refinery is apparently complicated 

and I do not understand the method that is used, it is different than calculating the value of a 

home or structure.  I will keep the council updated as I know more.  

 

On Veterans Day I was honored to help read the three mayor’s proclamation at the ceremony put 

on by Festival Fairbanks at the Westmark Hotel.  It was also wonderful to see all of the people 

who came out for the dedication of the Trooper Gabe Rich and Scott Johnson Memorial Park.  

The dedication took place at the property in the Morning Star Subdivision; we installed a sign 

letting people know of the plans for the property.  Special thanks to Chief Dutra for his efforts to 

help this become a success.  

 

Alaska Municipal League was last week in Anchorage.  It was a productive session, some of the 

items of interest to Alaska’s Municipalities include, state revenue sharing, PERS contribution by 

municipalities, Senior Citizens-disabled veterans property tax exemptions, Gas line construction 

and local planning authority for DOT projects.   

 

If you are interested in more information about AML (Alaska Municipal League) and the 

resolutions that were passes this last session please visit http://www.akml.org/  

 

Last week I was elected the Chair of the FMATS policy committee.  FMATS is the local 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and is one of two in the entire state of Alaska.  

FMATS is in charge of all of the road infrastructure planning for a large portion of the FNSB.  I 

look forward to serving the Interior as the Policy Committee Chair.   

 

While I was in Anchorage last week for AML I was also able to attend a Policy Meeting of the 

local MPO in Anchorage, AMATS.  They are a different type of organization as they only have 

one municipal member (anchorage) vs us in the interior where we have three Municipal 

members: North Pole, Fairbanks, and The Fairbanks North Star Borough.  It was an educating 

experience and gives me new appreciation for how we operate in the interior.   

 

Tomorrow I am meeting with Senator John Coghill, Representative Tammie Wilson, Jeff Cook 

from Flint Hills Resources and Doug Chapados from Petro Star to address some of the issues 

plaguing the refining industry in Alaska.  The plan is to identify the issues that are legislative and 

work on addressing them. 

 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR 

None 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 

REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 

http://www.akml.org/


Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   4 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

Director of City Services, Bill Butler  

Building Department 

 No new building permits issued since November 3 

 McDonalds had its final inspection today—waiting for our inspector’s report to learn 

status and projected opening date 
 

Public Works 

 Soil & Water Conservation District submitted a grant for interpretive sign and facility 

upgrades on Beaver Springs trail 

 Little or no costs to the City, includes funding request to offset staff salary 

 Soil & Water would provide cash match 
 

Utility Department 

 Sewer outfall 

 Requesting an extension of response to Notice of Violation to February 20, 2015 

 Original submission date was December 15 

 ADEC is requesting permitting and regulations that could affect solution to sewer 

outfall 

 Based upon results of City’s submission to ADEC will then move to negotiation of 

Compliance Order by Consent (COBC) to resolve sewer outfall problem 

 Wastewater treatment plant rehabilitation project 

 Project is scheduled for substantial completion inspection on November 24 

 Still waiting on delivery of new emergency generator; expected delivery is mid-

December 

 Installation of generator will conclude this phase of rehabilitation work at WWTP 
 

Natural Gas Utility Board 

 Gas project’s success is at a precarious point 

 How the state, through AIDEA, handles future financing will determine the project’s 

viability 

 If the cost of gas to the customer is in the $17 to $20 or higher, the project could falters 

because models suggest insufficient numbers of people would choose to convert. 

 
  
 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   5 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

City Accountant, Lisa Vaughn 

 None 

 

 

Police Department, Lt. Dutra 

 Thanked the council for passing the ordinance at the last meeting.  They have been able 

to retain an employee that was thinking of leaving 

 

Fire Department, Chief Lane 

 None 

 

Borough Representative 

 Nothing to report at this time. 

 

 

City Clerk, Kathy Weber 

 Bed Tax Distribution meeting will be held on December 3
rd

.  Your packets with applicants 
are before you for your consideration. 
 

 December 2, 2014 - Local Intergovernmental Work Session between the FNSB Assembly  
City of Fairbanks and City of North Pole Councils regarding the passage of state of 
Alaska ballot measure No.2 an act to Tax and Regulate the Production, Sale, and Use of 
Marijuana.  December 2, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. at Pioneer Park Civic Center.  .  
 

 

ONGOING PROJECTS 

 None 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 None 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 
ORDINANCE 14-25, AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE 2015 BUDGET AND 

LEVYING THE MILL RATE, SECOND READING 

Mayor Ward stated that this was the second reading of the ordinance. 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   6 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Advance Ordinance 14-25, An Ordinance Establishing the 2015 

Budget and Levying the Mill Rate, Second Reading 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

 

Ms. Holm moved to amend as follows: 

Dept Acct # Category Account Debit Credit 

Prof Svs 01-02-00-7004 EXP Fees:Audit & Accounting   5,500  

 

Prof Svs 01-02-00-7025 EXP Dispatch Services 26,000  

 

Utility - Water 02-10-00-7004 EXP Audit  & Accounting Fees   3,750  

Utility Sewer 02-12-00-7004 EXP Audit & Accounting Fees   3,750  

Utility –Water 02-10-00-XXXX REV Water Reserves    3,750 

Revenue 01-00-00-4002 REV Taxes:  Property   180,000  

Revenue 01-00-00-4164 REV Pers Relief 11,900  

 

  

Seconded by Mr. McGhee 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

On the motion to amend: 

 

Yes:  7 – Hunter, Welch, McGhee, McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Ward 

No: - 0 

Absent: 0 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   7 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend the agenda as follows: 

Dept Acct # Category Account Debit Credit 

Admin 01-01-00-6000 EXP Admin (wages: full time)  40,000 

 

Admin 01-01-00-6097 EXP Workmens Comp  256 

 

Dept Acct # Category Account Debit Credit 

Admin 01-01-00-6099 EXP Medicare  580 

Admin 01-01-00-6100 EXP PERS  8,800 

Admin 01-01-00-6102 EXP Health & Disability Ins  18,330 

Admin 01-01-00-6100 EXP PERS Relief  5,600 

Revenue 01-00-00-5900 REV Transfer in Forfeitures 20,000  

Public Works 01-08-00-6000 EXP PW (Wages: full time)  45,000 

Public Works 01-08-00-6097 EXP Workmens Comp  3,204 

Public Works 01-08-00-6099 EXP Medicare  653 

Public Works 01-08-00-6100 EXP PERS  9,900 

Public Works 01-08-00-6102 EXP Health & Disability Ins  18,330 

Public Works 01-08-00-6100 EXP Pers Relief  6,300 

Public Works 01-08-00-6098 EXP FICA 2,500  

Public Works 01-08-00-7000 EXP Summer Hire 43,000  

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Council discussed the declining revenues and were concerned with the position the state budget 

is in. There was also discussion on the impact that it would have in the City to put off funding for 

the Parks in the City until 2016.  Mayor Ward clarified how the City had established Funds and 

how that worked.  

 

On the motion to amend 

 

PASSED 

 

Yes: 7 – McGhee, Welch, Holm, Smith, Hunter, McCarthy, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   8 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

On the main motion as amended: 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7 – McGhee, Welch, Holm, Smith, Hunter, McCarthy, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 

 

 
 

 NEW BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCE 14-26, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 4.08, 

SALES TAX 

Mayor Ward said that the council had several work sessions and this ordinance is a result of 

those meetings.   

 

Public Comment 

Mike Gendreau, 1105 St. Nicholas Drive 

Mr. Gendreau said that the vast majority of the residents are not in favor of a sales tax 

increase.  He was not in favor of the ordinance. 

 

Tammy Randolph, 653 Blanket Blvd 

Ms. Randolph was not in favor of the ordinance and spoke against raising the sales tax. 

 

Rep. Tammy Wilson, 571 Canoro 

Rep. Wilson spoke against the sales tax ordinance.  

 

Jeff Howe, 632 Holiday 

Mr. Howe said he doesn’t buy anything in North Pole, ie; buys gas, groceries, and eats in 

Fairbanks.  He stated the price of water and sewer is rising and putting a big strain on his 

budget.  He spoke against the ordinance 

 

Tim Devito, 1050 Refinery Loop 

Mr. Devito spoke to the sales tax and said that this is going to choke the public.  He spoke 

against the ordinance. 

 

Sharon Beeman, 2540 Honey Bee Lane 

Ms. Beeman doesn’t understand why the City can’t have volunteers for upkeep and why they 

have to hire 3 people for summer help.  She spoke to the hotel/motel tax and against the 

ordinance. 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   9 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

Jerry Lymburner,  3100 Pewter Ct. 

Mr. Lymburner  spoke against the ordinance. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 14-26, An Ordinance 

Amending Title 4, Chapter 4.08, Sales Tax 

 

Seconded by Ms. Hunter 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee spoke to the ordinance and said that he didn’t see anyone here for the budget 

sessions.  He said they have made very painstaking decisions regarding the budget and 

employee pay increases and commented that a large percentage of businesses in North Pole 

charge 30% more.  Mr. McGhee stated that they wanted to decrease the property tax and 

increase the sales tax to take the burden off the property owner. He said he just came back 

from trip and there was an 8.5% sales tax.  He’s glad he lives in North Pole and doesn’t 

believe anyone is going to lose their home.  He said he is going to support the ordinance. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend to decrease the sales tax cap from $10 to $8.   

 

Seconded by Ms. Holm 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that he feels that $8 cap is fine but feels if the cap was raised it could hurt 

those who buy fuel. 

 

Mr. Welch said that the council felt that on October 23 they were hit by the following: 

1. Greater expense to dispatch fees 

2. Increase to audit 

3. Re-evaluation of refinery 

He agrees with Mr. McGhee. 

 

Ms. Hunter said that she is inclined that the $2 difference is not a big difference.  Overall she 

doesn’t want to increase the tax at all but because the council has done a thorough job with 

the budget, they are in a place of necessity.  Raising the cap will help spread out the cost 

among the payers. 

 

Ms. Holm says she heard people say they felt choked and doesn’t know how else to take this.  

She knows many people who fell their tanks with fuel jugs multiple times a week and are 

actually paying $100’s of dollars a month and this is a survival thing.  She said this is not a 

time to pay $2 more  a month.  Those are words that we need to heed by.   

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   10 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

Mr. Welch said that when they talked about the cap he used something that Rep Wilson said,  

that those that can afford to go out and spend $200 only pay $8.  He asked how they defined 

what is fair and equitable.  He asked if they could have an exemption for fuel oil. 

 

On the amendment   

 

PASSED 

Yes – 6 - McGhee, Welch, Holm, Hunter, Smith, McCarthy, Ward 

No – 1- Hunter 

Absent – 0 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend line 140, 142 and 145 , 426 as follows:  

 

140 -If any person, firm, co-partnership, corporation, director or agent imposes collects taxes 

141 listed under this section on behalf of The City of North Pole and the transaction is   

142 clearly not taxable under this section, they shall refund all improperly paid taxes  

143 immediately or remit all unlawfully collected taxes to the City of North Pole  

144 immediately. Disregard for this section is a violation of code and offenders may  

145 be guilty of a Class A misdemeanor violation. 

 

Line 426  

chapter is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor violation. (Ord. 99-29 §2(part), 1999) 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that this is a recommendation from the City Attorney. 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7 – McGhee, Welch, Holm, Smith, Hunter, McCarthy, Ward 

No:  0 

Absent: 0 

 

On the main motion as amended 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee spoke to the value of increasing the alcohol and tobacco tax.   

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend to equalize the tobacco and alcohol at Line 108 5 – 8% 

and line 111 to leave at 8% and strike 10% increase. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   11 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Mr. Welch said that the idea was the tobacco tax goes to 10 vs $2.  State of Alaska gets $2 a 

pack and to help do medical research.  City of Juneau has just increased the tax from $1 a 

pack to $3 a pack and his idea was to be at 25 cents a pack and realize shortfalls.  Doesn’t 

believe people will quit buying cigarettes in North Pole.   

 

Council had more discussion on the alcohol and tobacco tax. 

 

On main motion as amended 

 

FAILED 

Yes: 3 -  McGhee, McCarthy, Smith 

No:  4 – Hunter, Welch, Holm, Ward 

Absent: 0 

 

Ms. Hunter said that they are not creating any extra jobs and are reducing and the increase in 

wages was a cost of living that they have not given to the employees over an extended period 

of time because their wages were so low that we were spending $40,000 over a years period, 

in training, and then leaving and going to FPD and our costs were tremendous.  What the 

council looked at was an increase in the cost of living. We don’t want to raise taxes and 

think we are being responsible by providing services for residents.     

 

Mr. Welch clarified what Ms. Hunter said by stating it was costing the City $50,000 a year 

to train new employees with the police department. 

 

Mr. McCarthy said that one thing the public hasn’t realized is that this is the first time he’s 

been able to speak on this ordinance.  He is unhappy about the sales tax. 

 

Mr. McCarthy moved to amend as follows:  

Line 103 to reduce from 4.5% to 4% 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McCarthy said that he doesn’t want to see North Pole become another place like Mass. 

He doesn’t feel the ½ percent is in the best interest.   

 

There was more discussion with council on this subject 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   12 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  4 - Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Holm 

No:  3 - McGhee, Hunter, Ward 

Absent: 0 

 

On the main motion as amended 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  6 – McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Hunter, Welch, Ward 

No:  1 - McGhee 

Absent: 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 14-27, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA 

AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 4.10.010, USER FEES 

Mayor Ward explained the changes in the User Fees. 

 

Public Comment 

Tammie Wilson, 574 Canoro 

Ms. Wilson asked for clarification on the ambulance fee and that the FNSB taxes should be 

paying those taxes . 

 

There was discussion between Representative Wilson and the Council. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to suspend the rules to 11:00 pm 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

PASSED Unanimously 

 

Mr. Smith moved to  

 

Mr. McCarthy moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 14-27, An Ordinance Of The 

City Of North Pole, Alaska Amending Title 4, Chapter 4.10.010, User Fees Schedule 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that here we are taxing the 2200 residents when we could have taxed the 

15,000 that come through the City.  He doesn’t see justification in these user fees.   

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   13 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

There was more discussion among council on the user fees 

 

Mr. Smith moved to reduce the ambulance fee for residents from $900 to $450  

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Council discussed the amendment. 

 

FAILED 

Yes – 2 – McGhee, Smith 

No – 5 – Welch, McCarthy, Holm, Hunter, Ward 

Absent – 0 

 

On the main motion 

PASSED 

Yes: 6 – McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Hunter, Welch, Ward 

No: 1 - McGhee 

Absent:  0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 14-28, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA TO 

AMEND TITLE 5, CHAPTER 5.02 BUSINESS LICENSES, TAXES AND  

REGULATIONS 

Mayor Ward said that this is brought before the council to bring clarity to the ordinance. 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 14-28, An Ordinance of the City 

of North Pole, Alaska to Amend Title 5, Chapter 5.02 Business Licenses, Taxes and 

Regulations 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend line 35 by inserting the word “perform” between engage, 

or complete. 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   14 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

 

Discussion 

 

PASSED 

Yes – 7 – McGhee, Hunter, Smith, McCarthy, Welch, Holm, Ward 

No – 0  

Absent – 0 

 

 

RESOLUTION 14-20, A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE 2015 LEGISLATIVE 

CAPITAL PROJECTS REQUEST OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE 

Mayor Ward said that he requested from the council that they only approve the capital 

projects that they could match. 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Resolution 14-20, A Resolution Establishing 

the 2015 Legislative Capital Projects Request of the City of North Pole 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said he was embarrassed when he saw the requests and that the only one he could 

justify is the one for the NPPD.  With all due respect we don’t need to fund the park in Morning 

Star.  He was told tonight that there is no money in the legislature.  This is not legitimate and 

cannot support it.  He wants to see it go back to the drawing board. 

 

Ms. Holm moved to postpone this to the December 1, 2014 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Mr. Welch was against postponing 

 

Mr. McGhee was against postponing 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   15 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

On the motion to postpone 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  5 – McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Hunter, Ward 

No:  2 – Welch, McGhee 

Absent: 0 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

10:32 p.m. 

Mr. McGhee moved to enter into Executive Session to discuss: 

a.  Legal issues pertaining to sulfolane contamination 

b. Personnel issues relating to Administration personnel matters 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Passed Unanimously 

 

The regular meeting was reconvened at 11:56 p.m. 

 

Mr. Welch moved to reconvene the Executive Session on personnel issues relating to 

Administration personnel matters to Monday, December 1, 2014 at 5:00 p.m. 

 

Seconded by Ms. Hunter 

 

Passed Unanimously 

 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

None 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mr. McGhee adjourned the meeting at 11:58 p.m. 

 

Seconded by Ms. Hunter 

 

The regular meeting of November 24, 2014 adjourned at 11:58 p.m. 

 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

November 24, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   16 
Minutes 

November 24, 2014 

 

 

These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City 

Council on Monday, December 15, 2014. 

 

    

       ____________________________________ 

        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

  

                             

_________________________________________ 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 

North Pole City Clerk       



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   1 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 

      Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, December 1, 2014 in the 

Council Chambers of City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

Mayor Ward called the Executive Session to order at Monday, December 1, 2014 to order at 5:09 

p.m. 

 

There were present:     Absent/Excused 

Ms. Holm       

Ms. Hunter       

Mr. McCarthy           

Mr. McGhee       

Mr. Smith       

Mr. Welch         

Mayor Ward  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Mr. McGhee moved to adjourn into executive session to discuss personnel issues relating to 

Administration personnel matters. 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Approved unanimously 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to ratify the Mayor’s request relating to Administration personnel 

matters. 

 

Seconded by Ms. Holm 

 

PASSED Unanimously 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

Mayor Ward called the regularly scheduled meeting of the North Pole City Council to order on 

Monday, December 1, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. 

 

     

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 

Led by Mayor Ward 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   2 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

National Anthem sung by NPMS Choir members – 

 

INVOCATION  
Invocation was given by Councilman McGhee 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

Mr. McGhee moved to Approve the Agenda of December 1, 2014 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion  

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to consent the following item: 

c.  Ordinance 14-28, An Ordinance Of The City Of North Pole, Alaska To Amend Title 5, 

Chapter 5.02 Business Licenses, Taxes And  Regulations 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

On the Amendment 

Yes:  7 - Holm, McGhee, Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

No:  0-  

Absent:  0 

 

On the main motion as amended 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7- McGhee, Holm, Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mr. Welch moved that the minutes from 11-24-14 will be available at the meeting of 12-

15-14 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   3 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  7 – McGhee, Welch, Holm, Smith, Hunter, McCarthy, Ward 

No:  0 

Absent:  0 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 

Bed Tax Grant applications were due in October and we have received 6 applications.  The 

Council presentations are scheduled for Wednesday Dec 3
rd 

and will begin promptly at 6:30 pm.   

All applicants have been informed.  The council will approve allocations on the next scheduled 

council meeting (Dec 15
th

).   

 

Last week I met with Senator John Coghill, Senator Pete Kelly Representative Tammie Wilson, 

Representative Doug Isaacson, Jeff Cook from Flint Hills Resources and Doug Chapados from 

Petro Star to address some of the issues plaguing the refining industry in Alaska.  Interior 

refineries are concerned about the quality bank (penalty paid for reinjection of heavier oil back 

into the pipeline),  and the high cost of crude (open market) compared to other crudes, high cost 

to use State of Alaska Royalty Oil and the high cost of energy (by comparison).  It is my hope 

that legislators can devise a way to address the issues regarding the refining industry before we 

lose another refinery.   

 

I had the opportunity to meet Secretary of the Air force Mrs. Debora Lee James at Eielson AFB.  

It was a small meeting and the Secretary expressed her concerns with the upcoming budget (or 

lack thereof) and the need for a actual budget not a continuing resolution. She also touted the F-

35 and discussed what will need to happen before 2019, when the planes are projected to arrive. 

 

Friday I was able to read the kettle cup proclamation from the three mayors at the new 

Walgreens over by the airport. The kettle cup bell ringers are out in force and the director 

commented on how generous the interior is when it means ensuring no one goes hungry.     

 

Reminder that Tomorrow is the Joint work session with the City of Fairbanks and the Fairbanks 

North Star Borough on Marijuana.  The meeting will be held at the Civic Center at Pioneer Park 

and will begin promptly at 6:00pm.   

 

Reminder that Wednesday we have the Bed Tax Workshop at 6:30pm.  Please show up a little 

early as we have a tight schedule to keep at will begin promptly at 6:30.  Submitted packets have 

been given to the council and we do not have copies (make sure to bring your copies).   

 

This Weekend is the North Pole Winterfest.  The North Pole Chamber of Commerce is hosting a 

Christmas Bazaar at the North Pole Mall beginning Saturday Morning and concluding at 6pm 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   4 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

with Fireworks in the Parking lot. Sunday 2pm at the North Pole High School Auditorium will 

be the Candle lighting Ceremony with talents from the North Pole community afterword’s we 

will have the tree lighting here at City Hall at 4pm.  We will have hot coco, marshmallows and 

sing Christmas carols.  We will have small warming fires to keep folks warm and to roast our 

marsh mallows.  Make room on your calendars for these special events.  

 

Reminder that Christmas in Ice opened this last weekend and they are always in need of 

volunteers.  The ice park will be open until January 8
th

 this year. 

 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR 

Mr. Smith asked if anyone has come in to city hall about the air quality in North Pole. 

 

Ms. Hunter asked if there is a meeting coming up about air quality in the near future. 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 

REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 

Police Department, Lt. Dutra 

 We received two additional checks from asset forfeiture.  One for $32,723.10 and one for 

$3,388.80.  Both from Detective Stewart’s involvement in DEA IRS cases.  $36,111.90 

total. 

 We had a successful holiday blitz enforcement effort.  We had 15 hours worked.  We 

have another one coming December 13 – 31
st
. 

 I will be out of town with Lt. Rathbun attending Executive development in Anchorage till 

Friday. 

 Statistical data – couple data points of concern. 

 Update on building heating project.  Finally have the correct controllers installed and 

building is running well. 

 Dedication ceremony for the Trooper Gabe Rich and Trooper Scott Johnson memorial 

park was very well attended and received great coverage. 

 

 

Director of City Services, Bill Butler  

 None 

 
  

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   5 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

Fire Department, Chief Lane 

 Dec 13, dedication for new platform.  If you would like to be on agenda let the Chief 

Lane know and he can schedule you to speak. 

 Dec 15
th

 the squad will start making their Christmas rounds. 

 

Borough Representative 

 Nothing to report at this time. 

 

 

City Clerk, Kathy Weber 

 Tuesday, December 2, 2014 - Local Intergovernmental Work Session between the FNSB 
Assembly  City of Fairbanks and City of North Pole Councils regarding the passage of 
state of Alaska ballot measure No.2 an act to Tax and Regulate the Production, Sale, and 
Use of Marijuana.  December 2, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. at Pioneer Park Civic Center.   
 

 Bed Tax Distribution meeting will be held on Wednesday, December 3
rd

.  Be sure to bring 
your packets with you for review. 
 

 Kudo’s to the students from NPMS who come out every meeting to sing for us.  We must 
always do everything in our power to encourage our youth to be involved in their 
community. 
 

 Sharon and Joe Geese have been chosen as the 2015 North Pole King & Queen 
 

 24 days until Christmas. 
 

Mr. McGhee moved to suspend the rules for 5 minutes. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Welch 
 
Approved Unanimously 

 
 

ONGOING PROJECTS 

 None 

 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 Phil Zastrow, 2255 Peridot 

Mr. Zastrow said that Christmas in Ice is coming along nicely.  Candlelighting is set for Sunday, 

December 7
th

 at 2:00 p.m.  They are looking for an MC for the Candlelighting.   



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   6 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

 

Mr. McGhee said that he would officiate for the Chamber. 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 
ORDINANCE 14-26, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 4.08, 

SALES TAX 

Mayor Ward said that the council had several work sessions this ordinance is a result of 

those meetings.  He did a recap of the ordinance. 

 

Public Comment 

Carey Spohn, 2628 Tenakee Way 

Ms. Spohn said that she works at Refinery Lounge and said that she doesn’t know how much 

longer businesses can stay in business.  She spoke against the ordinance. 

 

Steven Hunter, 1292 Still Valley Rd 

Mr. Hunter reiterated what Ms. Spohn said.  He stated in the bar industry that there is an 

illusion that everything is going up.  He is in favor of tobacco tax, against alcohol tax.  He 

also spoke against the marijuana issue. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Approve Ordinance 14-26, An Ordinance Amending Title 4, 

Chapter 4.08, Sales Tax 

 

Seconded by Mr. Welch 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to  amend as follows: 

Line 103  - Sales tax, increase from 4% - 5% 

Line 108 - decrease proposed alcohol tax efrom 6% - 5% 

Line 111 decrease proposed tobacco tax from 10% - 8% 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that said that he didn’t feel it was right to tax alcohol as it would be as if 

we are isolating one group of people.  By increasing the sales tax, taxing 15,000 people 

outside the City limits, to share in the burden to the cost of the City instead of the property 

owner.  He is against the mill levy.  He said this is fair and equitable. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   7 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

Ms. Holm said that the City is only $43,000 short.  She was surprised that Mr. McCarthy 

seconded the motion as he voted against an increase at the last meeting.  Ms. Holm went 

updated council on how she has voted on things since she was elected. 

 

Mr. Welch said he is always worried about opening Pandora’s box.  The City went from 3% 

to 4% sales tax.  He said we need to be able to justify this to our citizens and not sure we 

need to go to 5%.  He will not vote for it tonight and is watching foreclosures in the 99705 

area and City of North Pole.  He spoke to the alcohol and tobacco tax. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend from 5% - 4.5% 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee spoke about the NPPD employee spouses who came forward with stories about 

how difficult it was to maintain the integrity of the department and their own families.  He 

remembers changing the fire department staff from 2 – 4 man shifts.   

 

Ms. Hunter said she had people who came and talked with her about the council turning 

down the 4.5% and need to have 20,000 people contributing because they are getting 

services for free.  She said ½ cent is a minute amount of money and need to look at the 

larger picture instead of the 5 or 6 people that came forward.  It’s a lot of info that we are 

basing the decision on.  We would prefer to have more public input and hard decisions to 

make and .5% is a reasonable amount. 

 

Mr. Welch said that we are keeping the cap at $200 and the maximum tax would be $9.  He 

said they usually don’t have a cap on sales tax.    

 

Mr. Smith said the residents came before council and didn’t want the sales tax increase and 

feels that they should be able to see more adjustments in the budget.  

 

Mr. McGhee said that less than 1% spoke against it at the last meeting and leaving it as it is 

you’re only taxing a handful of people.  Coming up in the future they are going to want to 

tax the property owner and duly respect the people who came out, but one doesn’t even pay 

sales tax.  It’s not the residents that are against it.  

 

Mayor Ward appreciated the work of the council and stated that it is important for citizens to 

come forward.  It is also important that the council makes good decisions and when 

ordinances came forward.  He increased the sales tax and decreased the mill rate and 

increase of the alcohol and tobacco tax.  His concern now is that we took it out at the last 

meeting and it is important that we have that trust from the citizens.  He agreed that sales tax 

is a fair way of taxing but the folks that come in and use our services are the ones that help 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   8 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

pay for it.  If you want services you need to pay for them.  He has concerns with the 

ordinance.  He said we are only $39,000 out of a balanced budget.   

 

Mr. Welch briefly stated that at 4% we reach the $8 maximum. 

 

Ms. Holm pointed out that Ms. Hunter stated when people come to the city they are getting 

services for free.  She said that each time they buy a coffee or meal they are paying for 

services.  When they use our police, fire, they are paying for those services.  People that live 

outside the city limits pay property tax.  Pharmaceuticals are exempt but the projection is 

that they do charge sales tax and that hurts business.  When the people bought the Refinery 

Lounge they bought into the community and invested in the community.  She wants to 

encourage people to come to North Pole and intrigue them to come here.  We want to make 

it more attractive to come here.  She discouraged the council from passing this.   

 

On the motion to amend from 5% to 4.5%   

 

FAILED 

Yes – 7 - McGhee, Hunter, Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Ward 

No –  0  

Absent – 0 

 

On the motion as amended: 

 

Sales Tax 4.5 

Alcohol at 5% 

Wholesale tobacco at 8% 

 

Discussion 

 

Mayor Ward said council had several workshops on this.  Council needs to make decisions 

on the best interests of the City.  He recapped what the alcohol and tobacco were in the 

FNSB and City of Fairbanks and that we all pay the same amount.   

 

Mr. McGhee said that 5 of the 7 people were at the last meeting, loss of FHR , dispatch and 

that we left meeting with the understanding that we would bring forward and include 

tobacco and alcohol to a percentage.  Council discussed that the same people will come out 

and speak to raising the sales tax and we need to accept it and stand up and realize this is our 

only avenue and doesn’t understand why council wouldn’t want to not unfairly burden the 

tax payer.  He doesn’t want to tax a few. 

 

Mr. Welch said that in the workshop he stated that he is for the tobacco and alcohol tax.  He 

would like to see it go back to 6% alcohol and 10 % tobacco. 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   9 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

 

Ms. Holm said that they already lost those customer away that don’t want to pay sales tax.s 

away. She wanted to have Chief Dutra come forward to and testify for DUI’s.   

 

Ms. Hunter wondered if the increase from sales tax makes it necessary to raise tobacco and 

alcohol. 

 

Mayor Ward said that it leaves $132,447 shortfall in the budget and with changes to the fee 

schedule, 4.5% in sales tax, and leaving alcohol and tobacco as it is, it creates a $214,553 

increase in revenue. 

 

Ms. Hunter said that would be her justification for not raising the tobacco and alcohol tax. 

 

On the amendment 

 

FAILED 

Yes: 3 - Hunter, McGhee, Ward 

No: 4 - Smith, holm welch, McCarthy 

Absent: 0 

 

On the main motion 

Sales tax 4% 

Alcohol tax 6% 

Tobacco tax 10% 

 

Ms. Holm spoke on the alcohol and tobacco tax and how it would affect the budget. 

 

Mayor Ward said that the shortfall on the budget it $132,447. 

 

Ms. Holm moved to amend line 108- alcohol tax to 5% and line 111- tobacco tax to 8% 

 

Seconded by Mr. McGhee 

 

Discussion 

Ms. Holm said that we need to move forward to achieve a sustainable budget and cut 

$100,000. 

 

Mr. McGhee said that removing the alcohol and tobacco tax it would increase the budget 

shortfall to $110,000.  This is asking council to go back into the budget and adjust to 

compensate.  This puts the City back into square one.  A little bit of fine print on the mill 

levy.   



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   10 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

Ms. Hunter said they have already gone through the budget and department chairs did make 

cuts.  It has brought us to the process of raising taxes and she was the only one that voted for 

the raise in sales tax.  She hates to see us go backwards and cutting services to the city and 

essential services. 

 

Ms. Holm said this is extremely difficult will need to cut in the departments.  This will hurt 

their businesses   

 

Mayor Ward said you have to pay for it somehow.  He is hesitant to vote for it. 

 

FAILED 

Yes:  2 - McGhee, Holm 

No:  5 – Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

Absent:  0 

 

On the main motion as proposed 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  5 - McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Welch, Ward 

No:  2 - McGhee, Holm 

Absent: 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 14-27, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA 

AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 4.10.010, USER FEES 

Mayor Ward explained the changes in the User Fees.  This was the 2
nd

 reading. 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. Welch moved to Approve Ordinance 14-27, An Ordinance of The City of North 

Pole, Alaska Amending Title 4, Chapter 4.10.010, User Fees 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that council is in favor of raising the cost for a few.  He is against the 

increases.  The City residents are paying for everything they have. 

 

PASSED 

Yes – 6 –Hunter, Smith, McCarthy, Holm, Welch, Ward 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   11 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

No – 1 - McGhee 

Absent – 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 14-28, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA TO 

AMEND TITLE 5, CHAPTER 5.02 BUSINESS LICENSES, TAXES AND  

REGULATIONS 

Mayor Ward said that this is brought before the council to bring clarity to the  

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. Welch moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 14-28, An Ordinance of the City of 

North Pole, Alaska to Amend Title 5, Chapter 5.02 Business Licenses, Taxes and 

Regulations 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

PASSED 

Yes – 7 – McGhee, Hunter, Smith, McCarthy, Welch, Holm,Ward 

No – 0 -  

Absent – 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 14-25, AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE 2015 BUDGET AND 

LEVYING THE MILL RATE, SECOND READING 

Mayor Ward stated that this was the third reading of the ordinance. 

 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Advance Ordinance 14-25, An Ordinance Establishing the 2015 

Budget and Levying the Mill Rate, Second Reading 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

None 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   12 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend as follows: 
Account # Category Account 

 

Debit 

 

Credit 

X X Existing Shortfall from amendments 132,447  

01-00-00-4005 REV Fire:  Ambulance Fees  21,000 

01-00-00-5802 REV Alcohol Tax (increase)  43,000 

01-00-00-5818 REV Tobacco Tax (increase)  27,500 

01-00-00-4018 REV Finger Printing  1,000 

  Difference revenue over expenditure 132,447 92,500 

    -39,947 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7 – Hunter, Welch, McGhee, McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Ward 

No:  0 

Absent:  0 

 

On the main motion as amended 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

Mr. McCarthy moved to transfer from fund balance 01-00-00-5900  $39,947 

 

Seconded by Ms. Hunter 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McCarthy said he didn’t want to kill the summer hire.  He wanted to wait and see what FHR 

does. 

 

On the amendment 

 

PASSED 

Yes: 7 – Welch, McGhee, McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Hunter, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 

 

On the main motion as amended 

PASSED 

Yes: 7 – Welch, McGhee, McCarthy, Smith, Holm, Hunter, Ward 

No: 0 

Absent: 0 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   13 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION 14-20, A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE 2015 LEGISLATIVE 

CAPITAL PROJECTS REQUEST OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE 

Mayor Ward explained that this Resolution had been postponed from the last meeting.  He 

has brought forward a substitute Resolution for this item. 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. Welch moved to Introduce and Advance Resolution 14-20, A Resolution Establishing 

the 2015 Legislative Capital Projects Request of the City of North Pole 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Ms. Hunter asked why a project she thought was prudent was eliminated. 

 

Mayor Ward said that it didn’t meet the 10% match. 

 

Ms. Hunter said that she thought the memorial park would be done with private donations and 

wants to substitute the solar panels for the fire department. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to amend by removing everything from line 26 – 53. 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said that he is embarrassed by these requests.  He said we took money from others 

and these need to be removed. 

 

Mr. McCarthy said he is in the same boat and has no problem putting the solar panels back on for 

the fire department.  He is fine with cooling system and would like to see the solar panels. 

 

Mayor Ward said that with a request from the legislature we decided to match 10% and pay for 

it.  By code we have set aside funds, and that what we are proposing.  He feels it is important to 

pay for at least 10% of it.  He went through the list and proposed that amount and is not in favor 

of removing all those items.   

 

Mr. Welch spoke on the Trooper Gabe Rich and Trooper Scott Johnson Park and thought we 

could do that project for less. 

 

Mayor Ward said he thought they could do it for half of the cost. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   14 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

Mr. Welch said that it would be approximately $130,000 and our match would be $13,000.   

 

Ms. Holm agreed with Mr. McGhee and with amendment.   She said this was spending money 

we didn’t have and it looks like North Pole is outrageously spending.   

 

Ms. Hunter said that we can find a way to cut our costs in half and raise more money for the 

Trooper Rich/Trooper Johnson park. 

 

Ms. Hunter moved to amend by adding the solar panels to NPFD 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

Discussion 

Ms. Hunter said this was an important project. 

 

Mr. Smith asked if they could have Chief Lane to speak with other departments. 

 

Chief Lane said the University station is successful in lowering electricity bill and pay back is 7 

years.   

 

Mr. McCarthy said that they are making more money selling it back to GVEA and a minimum of 

19 – 20 panels. 

 

Mr. McGhee asked what the price was for panels. 

 

Mr. McCarthy said that they are up to $250 per panel.   

 

Mr. McGhee said that he has spoken to different companies and that there is a problem with 

selling it back.  We are back to living frugal and turning off switches and City of North Pole 

needs to reduce costs by changing a few lights and save some money.  Testimony from Tammy 

Wilson says that the state doesn’t have the money. 

 

Ms. Holm said she doesn’t know anything about solar panels and asked if helps with heat. 

 

Mr. McCarthy said that it does help a little bit. 

 

Ms. Holm asked about the savings and if there would be more savings with LNG. 

 

PASSED 

Yes:  5 - McCarthy, Smith, Hunter, Ward 

No:  2 – McGhee, Holm, Welch 

Absent:  0 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   15 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

 

On the main motion as amended 

PASSED 

Yes:  5 – Hunter, Welch, McCarthy, Smith, Ward 

No:  2 – McGhee, Holm 

Absent:  0 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

Mr. McCarthy thanked everyone for all their hard work on the budget.  Commended everyone 

for working well together 

 

Mr. Smith thanked everyone for coming out tonight and they have done a fantastic job on the 

future projections.  Looking forward to the Christmas truck. 

 

Ms. Hunter said that the grand opening for the library 2 weeks ago was a great success. With the 

snow warning please drive safe 

 

Ms. Holm thanked Ms. Hunter for all her hard work on library.  Congratulations to the new 

governor. 

 

Mr. Welch said tough times make tough decisions. May not always agree but we need to have a 

majority.  He believes with Mr. McCarthy that we need to find a way to grow our community 

and expand the households and activities here.  He hopes to have workshops in upcoming year. 

 

Mr. McGhee said that with statistics we have lost 6 people in 6 weeks and need to be more 

defensive drivers.  If you don’t have anything nice to say, say nothing at all. 

 

Mayor Ward wished everyone a good evening. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mr. McGhee adjourned the meeting at 9:45 p.m. 

 

Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 

 

The regular meeting of December 1, 2014 adjourned at 9:45 p.m. 

 

 

These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City 

Council on Monday, December 15, 2014. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

December 1, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 

   16 
Minutes 

December 1, 2014 

 

 

    

       ____________________________________ 

        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

  

                             

_________________________________________ 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 

North Pole City Clerk       



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

*  January 5       *  July 6 

*  January 20       *  July 20 

*  February 2       *  August 3 

*  February 17       *  August 17 

*  March  2        *  September 8 

*  March 16        *  September 21 

*  April 6        *  October 5 

*  April 20        *  October 19 

*  May 4        *  November 2 

*  May 18        *  November 16 

*  June 1        *  December 7 

*  June 15        *  December 21 

  

2015 City Holidays- Offices Closed 

 

  New Year’s Day   Thursday   January 1 

  Martin Luther King Jr. Day Monday   January 19 

  President’s Day   Monday   February 16 

  Memorial Day   Monday    May 25 

  Independence Day   Friday   July 3 

  Labor Day    Monday    September 7 

  Veterans Day   Wednesday   November 11 

  Thanksgiving Day   Thursday   November 26 

  Christmas Day   Friday   December 25 

  Personal Holiday 

 

“Where the Spirit of Christmas Lives Year Round” 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

Tel:(907)488-2281  Fax:(907)488-3002 

www.northpolealaska.com 

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


` 

North Pole 
Employee Christmas 

Pot Luck 
  

When: Friday December 19th 
11:30am-1:30pm 

  
Where: North Pole City Hall 

  
Please bring your favorite side.   

Questions call Mayor Ward 
488-8584  

  

 



 
Revised:  October 30, 2014 

 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 

2015 

MAYOR & COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 
Council Member                   Mailing Address            Phone   
 

Mayor 

Bryce Ward     606 E 5
th

 Ave   (H)488-7314 

Term 10/12-10/15    North Pole, AK  99705 (C)388-4830 

email:  bryce.ward@northpolealaska.org            

 

Council Members 

Elizabeth Holm    2454 San Augustine Dr. (H)488-6125 

Term:  10/13-10/16    North Pole, AK 99705 (C)347-3797 

Email:  elizabeth.holm@northpolealaska.org     

 

Sharron Hunter,     322 Crossway   (C)978-5591 

Term: 10/12 – 10/15    North Pole, AK 99705  

email:  sharron.hunter@northpolealaska.org 

 

Kevin McCarthy    1051 Refinery Loop  (H)590-0800 

Term:  10/13 – 10/17    North Pole, AK 99705 (W)377-2678 

Email:  kevin.mccarthy@northpolealasaka.org  

 

Thomas R. McGhee Dep Mayor Pro Tem 1155 North Star Dr.  

Term: 10/13 – 10/17    North Pole, Alaska 99705 (W)455-0010   

email:  thomas.mcghee@northpolealaska.org    

 

Preston Smith- Alt Dep Mayor Pro Tem PO Box 60882   (H)488-8824 

Term:  10/13 – 10/16    Fairbanks, AK 99706   

Email:  preston.smith@northpolealaska.org    

          

Michael Welch – Mayor Pro Tem  934 Les Rogers Turnaround (H)488-5834 

Term:  10/13 – 10/15    North Pole, AK 99705  

Email:  mike.welch@northpolealaska.org 

          

City Clerk/HR Manager 

Kathy Weber, MMC    125 Snowman Lane       

      North Pole, AK 99705 (W)488-8583     

email: kathy.weber@northpolealaska.org               (C)388-2728 

           (F)488-3002 

City of North Pole Web Site is located at:  www.northpolealaska.com 

mailto:bryce.ward@northpolealaska.org
mailto:elizabeth.holm@northpolealaska.org
mailto:sharron.hunter@northpolealaska.org
mailto:kevin.mccarthy@northpolealasaka.org
mailto:thomas.mcghee@northpolealaska.org
mailto:preston.smith@northpolealaska.org
mailto:mike.welch@northpolealaska.org
mailto:kathy.weber@northpolealaska.org
http://www.northpolealaska.com/




frr

CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION

AWARDED TO

ATTEST:

Paul Trissel
For 15 years of outstanding sen¡ice to the City of North Pole!

Bryce Mayor

. Weber, MMC December 15, 2014

(

Y(,{' È/t/\t(l: iltn

\i(

,rll
rir

;..? 1



1

CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION

AWARDED TO

Randy Binkley
For S years of outstanding sen¡ice to the City of North Pole!

Bryce Mayor

thryn Weber, MMC December 15, 2014

ATTEST:



CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATIO}T

AWARDED TO

Steve Dutra
For 15 years of outstanding sen¡ice to the City of North Pole!

8ry" .w Mayore

ATTEST:

. Weber, MMC December 15, 2014



CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION

AWARDED TO

Billy Bellant

ATTEST:

For 15 years of outstanding sen¡ice to the City of North Pole!

Bryce Mayor

rWeber, MMC December 15, 2014

tl ¡¿¡¡¡;1¡: ll¡l

{i :r )ril ) )
n,,

ll

v'(

tt

I
r.f

Y

(il

,z' (\.¡



Bill of Rights  

Amendment I 

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting 

the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the 

right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the government for a 
redress of grievances.  

Amendment II 

A well regulated militia, being necessary to the security of a free state, the right of 
the people to keep and bear arms, shall not be infringed.  

Amendment III 

No soldier shall, in time of peace be quartered in any house, without the consent of 

the owner, nor in time of war, but in a manner to be prescribed by law.  

Amendment IV 

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, 

against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants 

shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and 

particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be 
seized.  

Amendment V 

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless 

on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury, except in cases arising in the land or 

naval forces, or in the militia, when in actual service in time of war or public danger; 

nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of 

life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against 

himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor 

shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.  

Amendment VI 

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public 

trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been 

committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be 

informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the 

witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his 
favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.  

Amendment VII 

In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, 

the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be 



otherwise reexamined in any court of the United States, than according to the rules 
of the common law.  

Amendment VIII 

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and 

unusual punishments inflicted.  

Amendment IX 

The enumeration in the Constitution, of certain rights, shall not be construed to deny 
or disparage others retained by the people.  

Amendment X 

The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited by 
it to the states, are reserved to the states respectively, or to the people.  

 



Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced and Advanced:  December 15, 2015 

Possible Adoption:  January 5, 2014 

 

ORDINANCE 14-29 

 

ORDINANCE 14-29, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 8 – HEALTH & SAFETY, 

SECTION 04.160 – DISTURBING THE PEACE 

 

WHEREAS, changes to the North Pole Municipal Code is a continually changing requirement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of North Pole Municipal Code should be amended to conform to the 

requirements of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of North Pole desires to give clarity to North Pole Municipal Code;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of North Pole: 

 

Section 1. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and shall be codified. 

 

Section 2. Title 8, Health and Safety, Nuisances, Chapter 8.04.160 disturbing the peace is hereby 

amended as follows [new text in italicized red font; deleted text in strikethrough font]: 

 

8.04.160 Disturbing the peace. 

A.    A person commits the offense of disturbing the peace if he: 

1.    In a public place, repeatedly or continuously shouts, blows a horn, plays a musical or 

recording or amplifying instrument, or otherwise generates loud sound or noise with the intent to 

disturb or in reckless disregard of the peace and privacy of others. With intent to disturb the 

peace and privacy of another not physically on the same premises or with reckless disregard that 

the onduct is having that effect after being informed that it is having that effect, the person makes 

unreasonably loud noise. 

2.    In a private place, engages in the conduct described in subsection (A)(1) of this section, with 

the same intent or reckless disregard, after having been informed by another that the conduct is 

disturbing the peace and privacy of others not in the same place. In a public plae or in a private 

plae of another without consent, and with intent to disturb the peace and privacy of another or 

with reckless disregard that the conduct is having that effect after being informed that it is 

having that effect, the person makes unreasonable loud noise. 

3.    Between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., operates or uses a pile driver, pneumatic 

hammer, bulldozer, road grader, loader, power shovel, derrick, backhoe, power saw, manual 

hammer, motorcycle, snow machine or other instrument, appliance or vehicle which generates 

loud sounds or noise, after having been informed by another that such operations or use is 

disturbing the peace and privacy of others. 



Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced and Advanced:  December 15, 2015 

Possible Adoption:  January 5, 2014 

4.    Keeps any dog or other animal which is allowed to engage in frequent or prolonged barking 

or other loud noise-producing activity, after having been informed by another that such frequent 

or prolonged barking or noise-producing activity is disturbing the peace and privacy of others. 

5.    Repeatedly or continuously sounds any horn or other sound-producing warning device on a 

motor vehicle when such repeated or continued sounding is not necessary to warn of any danger. 

6.    After being informed by a police officer that his conduct is in violation of this subsection 

(A), refuses to abate the prohibited activity. 

B.    As used in subsections (A)(1) and (2) of  this section: As used in this section, “noise” is 

“unreasonably loud” if, considering the nature and purpose of the defendant’s conduct and the 

circumstances known to the defendant, including the nature of the location and the time of tday 

or night, the conduct involves a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a reasonable 

person would follow in the same situation.  “Noise” does not include speech that is 

constitutionally protected  

1.    “Loud sound” in a public place means sound which is loud enough to inhibit the ability of a 

not unduly sensitive person in the same place to speak freely without leaving the same place. 

2.    “Loud sound” in a private place means sound which is loud enough to awaken a not unduly 

sensitive person in another private place. 

3.    The inside and outside of buildings and separate residences within an apartment house, and 

separate rooms within a hotel, are different places. 

C.    As used in subsections (A)(3) and (4) of this section, loud sound or loud noise is sound or 

noise which would awaken, or cause difficulty in sleeping for, the average, not unduly sensitive 

individual attempting to sleep in any house, apartment, hotel, motel or other residence in the 

vicinity of the sound or noise-producing activity. 

D.    The following sound or noise is not prohibited by this section: 

1.    Noise of safety signals, warning devices and emergency pressure relief valves when used for 

their warning or emergency purposes. 

2.    Noise produced by any authorized emergency vehicle when responding to an emergency call 

or when otherwise authorized by law or ordinance to activate its sirens or other warning devices. 

3.    Noises necessarily produced in the course of work required to protect persons or property 

from imminent peril. 

4.    Noise produced by any activity for which a permit has been issued pursuant to subsection 

(E) of this section. 



Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced and Advanced:  December 15, 2015 

Possible Adoption:  January 5, 2014 

E.    Applications for a permit for relief from the application of this section to any activity on the 

basis of undue hardship may be made to the Mayor or his duly authorized representative. A 

nonrefundable application fee and a permit fee, as set forth in the City’s schedule of fees and 

charges for services, will be charged for the City’s processing of an application. Any permit 

granted by the Mayor under this subsection shall contain all conditions upon which such permit 

has been granted and shall specify a reasonable time that the permit shall be effective. The 

Mayor or duly authorized representative may grant the relief as applied for if he finds that: 

1.    Additional time is necessary for the applicant to alter or modify his activity or operation to 

comply with this section; or 

2.    The activity, operation or noise source will be of a temporary duration and cannot be done in 

a manner that would comply with other subsections of this section; and 

3.    No other reasonable alternative is available to the applicant. 

However, the Mayor may prescribe any conditions or requirements he deems necessary to 

minimize adverse effects upon the community or the surrounding neighborhood. (Ord. 13-07 § 2, 

2013) 

Section 3.  Effective date  This ordinance shall be effective at 5:00 p.m. on the first City 

business day following its adoption. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 

21
st
 day of July, 2014. 

 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 

 

 ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 

North Pole City Clerk 



Sponsored by: Mayor Bryce Ward 

Introduced and Adopted: December 15
th

, 2014 

 

 

City of North Pole, Alaska RESOLUTION 14-21   
 

Page 1 of 1 

 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 

RESOLUTION 14-21 2 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE 2015 CITY OF NORTH POLE BED TAX 3 

GRANT DISTRIBUTION 4 

WHEREAS, the North Pole City Council through Ordinance 14-14 changed how bed tax is 5 

distributed; and  6 

WHEREAS, applicants have requested $227,761 in disbursements; and 7 

WHEREAS, the 2015 allocation for disbursement is $41,455; and  8 

WHEREAS, all organizations presented to the North Pole City Council on December 3, 2014  9 

and individual allocations were averaged against the whole to derive the 2015 award; and  10 

WHEREAS, the applicants have been awarded the following amounts for 2015:    11 

  North Pole Economic Development: $  2,586.46 12 

  North Pole Chamber of Commerce: $  5,832.25 13 

  Explore Fairbanks:    $  8,882.25 14 

  North Pole Christmas in Ice:  $14,911.55 15 

  North Pole City Services:   $  9,242.50 16 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the North Pole City Council allocates the 2015 17 

bed tax funding as appropriated for disbursement through ordinance 14-21. 18 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 19 

15th day of December, 2014. 20 

 21 

____________________________________ 22 

                          Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 23 

ATTEST: 24 

 25 
___________________________________ 26 
Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 27 

North Pole City Clerk 28 

 29 

PASSED/FAILED 

Yes: 

No: 

Absent: 



Sponsored by: Mayor Bryce Ward 

Introduced and Adopted: December 15, 2014 

 

 

City of North Pole, Alaska RESOLUTION 14-22   
 

Page 1 of 2 

 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 

RESOLUTION 14-22 2 

A RESOLUTION AFFIRMING THE PRIORITIES OF THE INTERIOR GAS UTILITY 3 

THAT LOOKS TO THE GOVERNOR AND STATE LEGISLATURE TO PROVIDE 4 
THE LEADERSHIP AND NECESSARY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO ACHIEVE 5 

THE GOALS OF $15 MCF GAS TO NORTH POLE AND THE INTERIOR OF ALASKA 6 

WHEREAS, the high cost of energy is driving people and business out of Interior Alaska; and  7 

WHEREAS, businesses need a stable, reliable, and affordable supply of gas to justify the capital 8 

expenses of switching from other fuels; and  9 

WHEREAS, The Fairbanks North Star Borough has been designated a PM 2.5 non-attainment 10 

area due to wintertime pollution from heating homes.  Natural gas has the potential to solve our 11 

air quality and energy issues; and  12 

WHEREAS, one of the keys to achieving annual PM 2.5 attainment is switching solid fuel 13 
(coal/wood) heating systems to natural gas. This requires a cost of service for natural gas near 14 

$15/mcf.  In order for Interior Alaska to benefit from lower utility costs and better air quality, the 15 
gas trucking project must be delivered in the range of $15 per thousand cubic feet (mcf); and  16 

 17 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole and the City of Fairbanks transferred utility authority to the 18 
Fairbanks North Star Borough who created the Interior Gas Utility to bring gas to the Interior at 19 

$15 per mcf; and  20 

WHEREAS, the Interior Gas Utility's mission is to provide low cost, clean burning, natural gas 21 
to the most people in the Fairbanks North Star Borough as quickly as possible, as cheaply as 22 

possible. The proposed cost for gas is in excess of $20 per mcf, jeopardizes the project; and 23 

WHEREAS, the Interior Gas Utility six year plan, dated May 20, 2014 states “estimated costs 24 

indicate a state partnership organization – one with the support of grants or loan guarantee 25 
arrangements from AIDEA – could substantially improve project returns and end-user 26 
affordability. This economic structure benefits end-user costs near the $15/mcf target to promote 27 

switching from solid fuel to natural gas. With the monetary backing and financial support of the 28 
State, the partnership is likely to achieve community goals of low cost gas to the broadest service 29 

area, within 5 years or less (NEI, 2012)”; and 30 

WHEREAS, the Interior Gas Utility six year plan, dated May 20, 2014 also states, “Meeting the 31 

goal of a $15/mcf rate is a key success factor”. 32 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the North Pole City Council affirms the 33 

priorities of the Interior Gas Utility to achieve the goal of $15 MCF gas to the burner tip in North 34 

Pole and the Interior of Alaska.  35 



Sponsored by: Mayor Bryce Ward 

Introduced and Adopted: December 15, 2014 

 

 

City of North Pole, Alaska RESOLUTION 14-22   
 

Page 2 of 2 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 36 

15th day of December, 2014. 37 

____________________________________ 38 

                          Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 39 

ATTEST: 40 
 41 

___________________________________ 42 
Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 43 
North Pole City Clerk 44 

 45 

 46 

PASSED/FAILED 

Yes: 

No: 

Absent 

 



SIX-YEAR PLAN

FINAL

May 20, 2014

Prepared For





 

 

Interior Gas Utility 
 
 
 

Six-Year Plan 
 
 
 

FINAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

Interior Gas Utility 
P.O. Box 70200 

Fairbanks, AK 99707 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

MWH Americas, Inc. 
1835 S. Bragaw Street, Suite 350 

Anchorage, AK 99508 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 20, 2014 





 

Interior Gas Utility Page i 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS ...................................................................................... iv 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................... ES-1 

1.0  INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.1  Purpose ....................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.2  Six-Year Plan Organization ....................................................................................... 1-1 

2.0  IGU STRUCTURE ............................................................................................................. 2-1 

3.0  GENERAL OVERVIEW.................................................................................................... 3-1 

3.1  Background ................................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.2  State and Federal Legislative History, Past and Current ........................................... 3-1 

3.2.1  Senate Bill 23 – The Interior Energy Plan .................................................. 3-1 
3.2.2  Alaska Legislature ...................................................................................... 3-7 
3.2.3  U.S. Federal Government ........................................................................... 3-7 

3.3  RCA Process .............................................................................................................. 3-7 
3.4  Serving Areas and Construction Timeline ................................................................. 3-8 
3.5  Financial Requirements of IGU and Rate Structure ................................................ 3-15 
3.6  Current Status of IGU .............................................................................................. 3-15 

3.6.1  Project Kickoff .......................................................................................... 3-16 
3.6.2  Task Scoping and Project Management .................................................... 3-16 
3.6.3  Financing................................................................................................... 3-16 
3.6.4  Keys to Implementation ............................................................................ 3-17 

4.0  PREVIOUS STUDIES........................................................................................................ 4-1 

4.1  Study Matrix .............................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.1.1  Northern Economics Inc. ............................................................................ 4-1 
4.1.2  CardnoENTRIX IEP Natural Gas Conversion Analysis ............................ 4-4 
4.1.3  CardnoENTRIX IEP Economic Impact Analysis ....................................... 4-4 
4.1.4  Agnew::Beck............................................................................................... 4-4 

5.0  FNSB BENEFITS ............................................................................................................... 5-1 

5.1  Environmental ............................................................................................................ 5-1 
5.2  Economic ................................................................................................................... 5-5 

6.0  COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT ..................................................................................... 6-1 

6.1  Communication Plan .................................................................................................. 6-1 
6.2  Toolbox ...................................................................................................................... 6-2 

7.0  STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS AND WORKING RELATIONSHIPS........................... 7-1 

7.1  Strategic Partnerships – Supply Chain ....................................................................... 7-1 
7.2  Working Relationships............................................................................................... 7-2 
 
 



 

Page ii Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

8.0  SYSTEM DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION .................................................................... 8-1 

8.1  Design Process ........................................................................................................... 8-1 
8.2  Technical and Safety Standards ................................................................................. 8-1 
8.3  Gas Distribution ......................................................................................................... 8-1 

8.3.1  Distribution System Build-out .................................................................... 8-1 
8.3.2  Demand Analysis ........................................................................................ 8-2 
8.3.3  Prioritization of Construction Areas for Demand ....................................... 8-4 
8.3.4  Relationship to Storage and Interties .......................................................... 8-4 
8.3.5  Cost Assumptions ....................................................................................... 8-4 

8.4  Permitting/Right-of Way ........................................................................................... 8-5 
8.5  Construction Schedule ............................................................................................... 8-6 

9.0  OPERATIONS .................................................................................................................... 9-1 

10.0  CONVERSION ................................................................................................................. 10-1 

10.1  Conversion Requirements ........................................................................................ 10-1 
10.2  Efficiency ................................................................................................................. 10-1 
10.3  Cost Analysis of Conversions .................................................................................. 10-1 
10.4  Consumer Participation ............................................................................................ 10-2 

11.0  FINANCIAL ANALYSIS ................................................................................................ 11-1 

11.1  Current Sources and Use of Funding ....................................................................... 11-1 
11.1.1  FEDC Funding .......................................................................................... 11-1 
11.1.2  FNSB Firm Fixed Price Contract .............................................................. 11-2 
11.1.3  FNSB Letter of Credit ............................................................................... 11-2 
11.1.4  AIDEA Development Loan ...................................................................... 11-2 

11.2  Potential Sources of Future Funding ........................................................................ 11-3 
11.2.1  SB 23 through AIDEA .............................................................................. 11-3 
11.2.2  Revenue Bonds ......................................................................................... 11-3 
11.2.3  General Obligation Bonds......................................................................... 11-4 

11.3  Financial Modeling .................................................................................................. 11-4 

12.0  PATH FORWARD ........................................................................................................... 12-1 

13.0  REFERENCES ................................................................................................................. 13-1 

 

 

LIST OF TABLES 
 
Table 4-1  IGU Studies .......................................................................................................... 4-2 
Table 8-1  IGU Area Customer and Gas Demand/Growth ................................................... 8-3 
Table 8-2  Final Cost Estimate Summary – Pipeline Layout Network ................................. 8-4 
 
  



 

Interior Gas Utility Page iii 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 
Figure ES-1  IGU Customer Projection (2016-2027) ............................................................ ES-4 
Figure 3-1  IEP Project Overview .......................................................................................... 3-3 
Figure 3-2  IEP Financing....................................................................................................... 3-5 
Figure 3-3  FNSB Natural Gas Service Areas ........................................................................ 3-9 
Figure 3-4  Proposed IGU Transmission Lines through the FNG Service Area .................. 3-11 
Figure 3-5  IGU Service Area by Construction Phase .......................................................... 3-13 
Figure 5-1  FNSB PM 2.5 Non-Attainment Area ................................................................... 5-3 
Figure 5-2  Winter Comparison of PM 2.5 Exceedances in Fairbanks .................................. 5-5 
Figure 7-1  IGU Project Supply Chain ................................................................................... 7-1 
Figure 8-1  IGU Service Area Natural Gas Demand .............................................................. 8-2 
Figure 8-2  Proposed IGU Project Schedule ........................................................................... 8-7 
 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A IGU Project Phases 1 through 6 
Appendix B IGU Project Class 4 (+50%/-30%) Cost Estimate 
 
 
  



 

Page iv Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
 
% percent 
AEA Alaska Energy Authority 
ADOT&PF Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities 
AHFC Alaska Housing and Financing Corporation 
AIDEA Alaska Industrial Development and Export Authority 
BIA Bureau of Indian Affairs 
BLM Bureau of Land Management 
COF City of Fairbanks 
CONP City of North Pole 
CPCN Certification of Public Convenience and Need 
EPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
FEDC Fairbanks Economic Development Corporation 
FNG Fairbanks Natural Gas 
FNSB Fairbanks North Star Borough 
FOB Free on Board 
GVEA Golden Valley Electric Association 
IEP Interior Energy Project 
IGU Interior Gas Utility 
IMPLAN Impact Analysis for Planning 
LNG liquefied natural gas 
M million (dollars) 
MBJ Michael Baker, Jr., Inc. 
mcf thousand cubic feet 
MG million gallon(s) 
MWH MWH Americas, Inc. 
NEI Northern Economics, Inc. 
NEPA National Environmental Policy Act 
NGSP Northern Gas Supply Plant 
OBF on-bill financing 
PHMSA Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 
RCA Regulatory Commission of Alaska 
RFP Request for Proposal 
ROW Right-of-Way 
SB Senate Bill 
SETS Sustainable Energy Transmission and Supply 
SIP State Implementation Plan 
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page ES-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Interior Gas Utility (IGU) was formed late in 2012 in response to a community need to 
lower energy costs by bringing natural gas to Interior Alaska with a goal to deliver gas to the 
customers’ meter in the range of $15/thousand cubic feet (mcf). On December 20, the IGU was 
awarded a Certificate of Public Convenience and Need (CPCN) determining a service area 
within the Fairbanks North Star Borough (FNSB). 
 
Currently, the IGU is building the framework for which the utility will operate, securing funding, 
developing a capital program to build out the necessary infrastructure, and establishing public 
outreach protocol to assist homeowners in converting to natural gas. IGU has contracted with 
MWH Americas, Inc. (MWH) to provide Project Management services for the startup of IGU. 
 
IGU has secured sources of funding for 2014 operations and pre construction activities from the 
Fairbanks North Star Borough (FNSB) and the Alaska Industrial Development and Export 
Authority (AIDEA).  In April 2014, the IGU secured a line of credit up to $7.5 million (M) from 
the FNSB to serve as bridge loan funding for the project and IGU was also authorized, in April 
2014 an $8.1 million through AIDEA from the Sustainable Energy Transmission and Supply 
(SETS) Loans, available through Senate Bill (SB) 23. 
 
This Six-Year work plan identifies the following major activities: 

 2014 – Utility Set Up:  Locate and set up an office, hire a General Manager and Chief 
Financial Officer, select a Gas Distribution Operator, develop a Business Plan, and develop a 
Conversions Initiative. 

Design Activities:  Permitting and Right-of-Way (ROW) coordination, including federal, 
state and local; develop hydraulic modeling; develop design standards; select consultant 
design team (Phase 1); host “Industry Day”, community outreach, and identify permanent 
and temporary LNG storage requirements; and initiate design of Phase 2. 

 2015 – Initial Construction in North Pole:  Construct distribution system and gas storage 
(Phase 1); finalize design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for LNG gas storage and order 
long lead items; and initiate design of Phase 3. 

 2016 – First gas delivered to customers; continue construction of distribution through North 
Pole/Badger Road (Phase 2); finalize design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for 
distribution and begin construction of LNG gas storage (Phase 3); and initiate design 
Phase 4. 

 2017 – Complete construction of natural gas distribution system in Badger Road; move 
North and West from North Pole to complete construction of a permanent LNG storage 
facility (Phase 3); finalize design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for distribution (Phase 
4); and initiate design Phase 5. 

 2018 – North of Fairbanks:  Complete construction of Chena Hot Springs Road (Phase 4); 
finalize design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for distribution (Phase 5); and initiate 
design Phase 6. 



 

Page ES-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

 2019 – Complete construction of Farmer’s Loop and Goldstream areas to University of 
Alaska, Fairbanks (Phase 5), and finalize design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for 
distribution (Phase 6). 

 2020 – Complete Chena Ridge and West of Fairbanks (Phase 6). 

 2021 – Ongoing service line construction. 
 

2014 Work Plan 

The 2014 Work Plan includes: 

 Initiate Phase 1 of the gas distribution system: 

- Contract for gas distribution system design consultants. 

- Identify and acquire gas distribution pipe and system material necessary for Phase 1. 

- Identify and acquire ROWs and easements, where appropriate. 

- Acquire associated permits. 

 Utility Set Up: locate and set up office, hire General Manager and Chief Financial Officer, 
develop Business Plan. 

 Develop conversion initiatives and community support. 

 Develop standards for a gas distribution network and hire an engineering firm to design the 
gas distribution system. 

 Begin hydraulic modeling of the gas system for optimization and future planning, 
establishing the criteria necessary for design and construction. 

 Select an operation contractor and develop operational scenarios and operational standards 
for the day-to-day operations of the gas distribution system. 

 Develop a Scope of Work and hire engineering services for temporary and permanent 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) storage and a regasification facility (Contractor to be hired). 

 Initiate Phase 2 of the gas distribution system: 

- Gas distribution system design. 

- Initiate permitting process. 

- Initiate ROWs and easement requirements. 
- Continue Community Outreach, conversion initiative, and government relations. 

 
The IGU will continue to develop the scope of work and refine the needs of the project by 
working directly with AIDEA and strategic partners of the Interior Energy Project (IEP) to keep 
the project on schedule and within budget, while demonstrating the feasibility of the project 
through thorough analysis of the cost models and financial analysis, and devising an 
implementation structure to meet the needs of the Certification of Public Convenience and Need 
(CPCN) that will optimize the entire IEP. 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page ES-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

Financing 

Overall project financing will be a mix of the aforementioned FNSB Interfund loans, funding 
available through SB 23 (State of Alaska loans via AIDEA SETS Loan Funds, and revenue 
bonds). 
 
The IGU estimates costs for gas distribution lines and storage for Phases 1 through 6 will require 
$287 million. 
 
The first customers are currently planned to come on line in the heating season of 2016/2017. 
With secured funding, anticipated detailed costs of the project can be further developed, such 
that IGU can work with AIDEA to negotiate the long-term financing for terms and conditions 
that will allow the price of gas to approach an approximate cost of $15/mcf at the customer’s 
meter – the IEP target price structure. 
 
Environment 

In December 2009, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) formally designated the 
FNSB as a non-attainment area for federal fine particulate matter (PM 2.5) air quality standards, 
and set a deadline of December 2014 for the FNSB to comply with these regulations (Clean Air 
Act Sections 110 and 172). Accomplishing conversions from wood to natural gas, which is 
expected to reduce PM 2.5 emissions by 32 percent, will require natural gas to be priced 
competitively with wood as a fuel source (CE, 2014a). 
 
Poor air quality has led to a proven increase of adverse health effects, particularly in children, the 
elderly, and vulnerable adults. Health savings and benefits, including a decrease in mortality 
rates, could benefit the community by $64 million to $200 million by 2020, based on various 
sources (CE, 2014a). 
 
Economic Impacts 

Initial economic impacts show that, depending on the construction year, total jobs related to 
the project are estimated between 250 and 840 – accounting for between $16.5 million and 
$55.2 million of total income in the FNSB. An average of 440 direct and indirect induced 
jobs over the construction period is predicted, with an average labor income of $29.1 million 
between the years of 2014 and 2021 (CE, 2014b). 
 
Long term operations analyses are predicted from 2014 to 2028 and conclude an average of 
580 local jobs, with an average labor income of $23.4 million. The study predicts an indirect 
economic impact from other FNSB businesses to equate to approximately 520 jobs and $10.9 
million (CE, 2014b). 
 
Design 

At least three consultants are expected to be hired for work pertaining to the design and layout 
(Phase 1), engineering (Phase 2), and storage development.  Design consultants are expected to 
be hired in the second quarter or early third quarter of 2014.  These consultants will be 
contracted through IGU and managed by MWH.  The consultants will begin work on design, 



 

Page ES-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

environmental documentation, ROW acquisition, and permitting for the distribution system, and 
will stay with the phase of the project for which they are hired until its completion. 
 
Operations 

IGU intends to contract the operations portion of the system.  A Statement of Qualification will 
be developed to select qualified companies who will be requested to submit and respond to a 
Request for Proposal (RFP).  It is expected that the service provided will include, at a minimum: 
operations and maintenance of the system, Pipeline and Hazardous Material Safety 
Administration (PHMSA) response, the customer service components of responding to requests 
for new connections, billing, and collections. 
 
IGU currently anticipates maintaining an initial staff consisting of a General Manager and Chief 
Financial Officer to be hired in 2014, and a single support staff, as direct employees. 
 
Conversions 

It is estimated that 4,974 customers will connect by 2019, with a potential customer base of 
11,920 by 2027, as shown on Figure ES-1. The IGU will work with the legislature, community 
members, and local businesses to determine an appropriate solution for conversion assistance. At 
this time, an on-bill payment plan allowing conversion costs to be rolled into a customer’s 
monthly bill is thought to be the most favorable solution to overcome conversion costs averaging 
thousands of dollars (CE, 2014a). This solution expects homeowners to pay off the conversion 
price within 3 to 5 years, while immediately lowering their monthly heating bill. The IGU 
anticipates converting up to 77 percent of the service area population by 2027. 
 

 

Figure ES-1 IGU Customer Projection (2016-2027)



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 1-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Purpose 
 
This document presents Interior Gas Utility’s (IGU’s) Six-Year Plan for building and operating a 
natural gas distribution system to serve the Interior communities of Alaska.  The plan calls for 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) supply from the North Slope, transportation, storage (including gas 
transmission), distribution, and customer gas conversion in the areas of the Fairbanks North Star 
Borough (FNSB) that are not currently served by Fairbanks Natural Gas (FNG). 
 
This Six-Year Plan is meant to be a roadmap to achieve the desired outcomes, perceived 
challenges, and attainable solutions to meet the IGU mission / vision: 

“The IGU's mission is to provide low cost, clean burning, natural gas to the most people in 
the Fairbanks North Star Borough as soon as possible. 

As a public utility, the IGU is focused on lowering energy costs, improving the quality of life 
for all those who live here and visit here and bringing both economic and environmental 
relief to the residents of the Interior to keep our community vibrant.” 

 
In January 2014, MWH Americas, Inc. (MWH) was retained by IGU to assist with management 
of the project and to develop an initial plan for the utility.  A Six-Year Plan has been developed 
to reflect the nature of the project, which has a tentative 6-year build-out.  The following drivers 
and benefits have been identified for the IGU project: 

 Interior Alaska has the highest utility costs in the nation, according to the Council for 
Community and Economic Research in 2012 (Juneau Empire, 2012).  Bringing LNG to 
Interior residents will significantly reduce their home heating bills, making life in the Interior 
more affordable and enjoyable. 

 Interior Alaska has suffered from hazardous fine particulate matter (PM 2.5) air quality 
conditions, in part due to solid fuel heating system emissions.  This Six-Year Plan reviews 
environmental conditions and demonstrates the benefits that converting to a natural gas 
distribution system will assist in addressing federal and local air quality attainment goals and 
providing economic benefits to the area.  The evidence suggests significant reductions in 
harmful air particles and community health costs may be achievable through the operation of 
a natural gas system. 

 In order for Interior Alaska to benefit from lower utility costs and better air quality, this 
project must be delivered in the range of $15 per thousand cubic feet (mcf).  Financial 
modeling is based on this price point.  Alaska Senate Bill (SB) 23 allows for financial terms 
and conditions flexibility to reach this goal. 

 
1.2 Six-Year Plan Organization 
 
This Six-Year Plan is organized into 13 sections and two appendices, as follows: 

 Section 1.0, Introduction – Introduces the purpose of the Six-Year Plan and provides the 
organization of the plan. 



 

Page 1-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

 Section 2.0, IGU Structure – Describes the structure of the IGU and how the gas distribution 
utility was created to achieve the mission and vision described in Section 1.0. 

 Section 3.0, General Overview – Describes the legislative history, the Regulatory 
Commission of Alaska (RCA) process, service areas, and timeline for the project, and 
provides an overview of the current status of IGU. 

 Section 4.0, Previous Studies – Presents a cumulative list of previous studies that were used 
for the Six-Year Plan to incorporate the work on demand analysis, conversion, build-outs, 
economic and environmental impacts, storage, trucking, distribution, and financing that has 
been done by other consultants and agencies since 2012. 

 Section 5.0, FNSB Benefits – Discusses the benefits, both environmental and economic, for 
implementing the IGU project. 

 Section 6.0, Community Involvement – Discusses public involvement and how IGU will 
communicate to create a “Community Plan”, incorporate implementation strategies for 
communications and examine the use of a wide range of outreach tools for stakeholders in 
the community. 

 Section 7.0, Strategic Partnerships and Working Relationships – Addresses the strategic 
partnerships that are needed for the project to succeed and the working relationships required 
for the successful completion of a 6-year build out. 

 Section 8.0, System Design and Construction – Describes the approach to the gas distribution 
system design, including technical and safety standards.  This will include mapping, natural 
gas demand analysis, construction prioritization, storage and interties, cost estimating, 
permitting, Right-of-Ways (ROWs), and operations. 

 Section 9.0, Operations – Describes the services to be provided and IGU’s intent to contract 
out the operation of the system. 

 Section 10.0, Conversion – Reviews the natural gas demand and customer conversions using 
information available through existing studies and offers several solutions to engage and 
assist potential customers in cost effective conversions. 

 Section 11.0, Financial Analysis – Provides descriptions and analysis of the project 
feasibility and costs using the most current available data and financing options.  Projections 
are provided by using assumed permitting and ROW issues, design considerations, 
construction estimates, price of natural gas Free on Board (FOB) Fairbanks, and    
operational assumptions. 

 Section 12.0, Path Forward – Presents a recommended path for the next 6 years to deliver 
natural gas to IGU customers. 

 Section 13 0, References – Provides a list of the references used in this Six-Year Plan. 

 Appendix A, IGU Project Phases 1 through 6 – Presents figures showing each phase of the 
project. 

 Appendix B, IGU Project Class 4 (+50%/-30%) Cost Estimate – Presents the cost details. 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 2-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

2.0 IGU STRUCTURE 
 
In 2012, the movement to create a public natural gas utility for Interior Alaska gained 
momentum when the City of Fairbanks (COF), City of North Pole (CONP), and FNSB 
recognized the need to explore economic energy relief by way of a natural gas project.  In order 
to create a borough-wide utility, it was necessary for both cities to authorize a transfer of their 
utility powers to the FNSB by ordinance. On September 10, 2012, the COF passed Ordinance 
No. 5895 to transfer their utility powers to the FNSB, and on October 1, 2012, the CONP passed 
Ordinance 12-18 to transfer their utility powers to the FNSB.  These acts allowed the FNSB to 
create the Interior Alaska Natural Gas Utility (IANGU) referred to as Interior Gas Utility (IGU), 
which was done on October 11, 2012 (FNSB Ordinance 2012-52). 
 
The FNSB Assembly created and approved IGU as a public corporation, wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the FNSB.  The IGU Board is authorized to manage and operate the utility in 
accordance with prevailing industry practices and general standards common to utilities 
providing the same service. The respective governing bodies appointed the following members 
for staggered terms as follows: 

 Robert Shefchik, Chairman (FNSB) – Term expires on December 31, 2015 

 Michael Meeks, Vice-Chair (Fairbanks) – Term expires on December 31, 2015 

 Steve Haagenson, General Manager (FNSB) – Term expires on December 31, 2016 

 Frank Abegg, Director (Fairbanks) – Term expires on December 31, 2016 

 Jim Laiti, Director  (FNSB) – Term expires on December 31, 2014 

 Oran Paul, Director (FNSB) – Term expires on December 31, 2014 

 William Butler, Director (North Pole) – Term expires on December 31, 2016 
 
After the first four appointed terms in December 31, 2014 and 2015 have expired, their 
successors will be voted in by the voters of the FNSB. The Borough Clerk is currently working 
on an ordinance setting up this election.  Upon the term expiration of the final three members in 
2016, their successors will be appointed – one each by the COF, CONP, and FNSB Mayors. 
 
In January and February 2013, the IGU bylaws were created and approved by the FNSB and a 
gas distribution plan was presented to the RCA. 
 
On the first Tuesday of every month from 4:00 to 6:00 pm, the IGU Board meets in the 
Fairbanks City Hall for a Board meeting, and on the third Tuesday of every month, the Board 
meets for a work session at the Fairbanks Economic Development Corporation (FEDC).  All 
IGU meetings where three or more board members are present are publically noticed 5 days prior 
to the event, and are open to the public, with exception of Executive Sessions. 
 
  



 

Page 2-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 3-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

3.0 GENERAL OVERVIEW 
 
This section provides a general overview of the IGU Six-Year Plan, including: the framework on 
which the IGU was created, how this project integrates with the Interior Energy Project (IEP), 
areas within the FNSB and timelines to be served,  an overview of the financial projections. and 
the keys to successful implementation. 
 
3.1 Background 
 
The Alaska 28th Legislature passed SB 23 in 2013, which detailed a financing package of $332.5 
million (M) for the advancement of the IEP, including the development of an LNG plant on the 
North Slope, trucking and storage options, and a gas distribution system in the Fairbanks area. A 
combination of appropriation and financing authority were provided to the Alaska Industrial 
Development and Export Authority (AIDEA). 
 
The IGU Board has been supported by the Fairbanks Economic Development Corporation 
(FEDC) with staff assistance and $9,500 in private equity. The FNSB has also supported IGU 
with staff assistance and delegated IGU to fulfill a 2012 state appropriation of $3 million 
awarded to the FNSB for natural gas distribution. These monies were granted for pre-
construction activities that allowed IGU to determine the community need for such a project and 
apply to the RCA for a service area resulting in a Certification of Public Convenience and Need 
(CPCN). 
 
On December 20, 2013, IGU was granted the CPCN to service the area outside of the existing 
Fairbanks Natural Gas (FNG) service area, located within the City of Fairbanks (RCA Order U-
13-103(19)).  The IGU has since hired MWH as staff to: conduct the day-to-day business needs 
of the utility, develop a Business Plan for the utility, assist in securing funding, develop a 
Request for Proposal (RFP) to hire a design firm(s) and an operational contractor, develop a 
capital program to build out the necessary infrastructure, and work on public outreach to assist 
homeowners in converting to natural gas. 
 
Additionally, the FNSB has authorized a $7.5 million line of credit to IGU to be used as bridge 
loans for funding gaps. 
 
3.2 State and Federal Legislative History, Past and Current 
 
The passing of SB 23 is an initiative by the State of Alaska as a first step commitment to provide 
energy relief for the residents of Interior Alaska.  The below sections outline the premise of SB 
23 and the specific expectations of the IEP, as well as review state and federal legislation that 
could have an impact on the project, if passed. 
 
3.2.1 Senate Bill 23 – The Interior Energy Plan 
 
SB 23 is the enabling legislation for the IEP, and seeks to provide a reliable natural gas energy 
supply to Interior Alaska, which is currently suffering under extremely high energy prices, poor 



 

Page 3-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

air quality, and poor economic growth.  On April 12, 2013, the legislature passed SB 23, which 
provides for partial financing of a LNG plant by AIDEA, trucking of LNG, and build-out of a 
natural gas distribution system to bring gas to the homes and businesses of most people in the 
FNSB. 
 
As of April 3, 2014, AIDEA has authorized IGU $8.1 million for initial start-up costs and FNG 
$15 million for the expansion of their existing distribution system in Sustainable Energy 
Transmission and Supply (SETS) loan financing. 
 
Developments are ongoing relating to the North Slope LNG Facility – commercial terms 
negotiations are underway, while permitting and construction procurement proposals are ongoing 
and under review (AIDEA, 2014).  Additionally, AIDEA has hired a consulting firm to look at a 
total supply chain management analysis (gas production, trucking, storage, and regasification) to 
allow for the most efficient and lowest cost of gas FOB Fairbanks. 
 
The goals of the IEP are to: 

1. Bring relief in the form of reduced heating fuel costs and electricity prices to Interior 
Alaska. 

2. Provide an abundant source of reliable natural gas at a reasonable cost within 3 years for 
residential, commercial, and industrial use. 

3. Benefit residents in other parts of the state. 
 

The IEP has the following components: 

 Construct a gas conditioning and liquefaction plant on the North Slope. 

 Establish a truck delivery system to Fairbanks. 

 Construct a LNG storage and regasification facility in Fairbanks. 

 Expand the gas distribution system in the FNG service area and develop the IGU service 
area, and provide for potential propane delivery system to the lower density areas in the 
Interior. 
 

A graphic demonstrating the various components of the IEP is shown on Figure 3-1. 
 
SB 23 provided the following financial packages: 

 $125 million in Sustainable Energy Transmission and Supply (SETS) loans to provide 
optimal commercial structure at a rate not to exceed 3 percent (%) interest rate, and 
flexibility on length of loan. 

 $150 million in AIDEA bonds at a 3% interest rate over a 30-year term (projected rate based 
on current market conditions). 

 $57.5 million in capital appropriations, to be used within 5 years of appropriation. 
 

The $332.5 million appropriation is shown on Figure 3-2. 
 



FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig3-1

FIGURE

SOURCE: IEP, 2014 (SLIDE #3)

3-1

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

IEP PROJECT OVERVIEW



 

Page 3-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
  



FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig3-2

FIGURE

SOURCE: IEP, 2013 (SLIDE #4)

3-2

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

IEP FINANCING



 

Page 3-6 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
  



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 3-7 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

3.2.2 Alaska Legislature 
 
IGU will need to work closely with the members of the Interior Delegation especially, and the 
Alaska Legislature at large, to educate, inform, and develop legislative action that can help 
communities benefit from a lower cost heating fuel option and applicable conversion programs.  
While several loans exist through AHFC, none of them specifically address heating system 
conversions (CE, 2014a). 
 
One attempt (House Bill 35, 2013-2014) was offered in the 2013 Legislative session and could 
be used as a framework to create future legislation providing these outcomes.  The IGU will 
continue to consider legislation that sets the framework for a conversion program such as an on-
bill payment system, where the utility will assume the debt, while the homeowner enjoys lower 
energy bills.  The homeowner could still typically see a return on this investment within 3 to 5 
years (CE, 2014a). 
 
Tax credits for LNG storage development are available within Alaska Statute (AS) Section 
43.20.047 of at least $30 million.  The tax credit for a storage tank may not exceed the lesser of 
$15 million or 50% of the costs incurred to establish or expand a LNG storage facility, and the 
facility must have a storage volume of not less than 25,000 gallons of natural gas.  Estimates of 
the permanent storage tank needs are expected to surpass this volume. 
 
3.2.3 U.S. Federal Government 
 
On February 27, 2014, a bill was introduced in the Senate that would establish a federal loan 
program for utilities under the jurisdiction of a local government, serving a community no larger 
than 50,000 who experience energy costs 200% higher than the national average to build natural 
gas distribution infrastructure. Based on this definition, IGU would likely be eligible to 
participate in the “Fuel Grid Distribution Loan Pilot Program” and utilize legislation from the 
“Energy Efficient Heating and Cooling Tax Credit Act.” This bill awaits a hearing in the 
Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry Committees (Govtrack, 2014). 
 
3.3 RCA Process 
 
In March 2013, IGU began preparation of the CPCN application for a gas distribution system 
outside of the FNG service area, and on April 22, 2013, IGU filed a CPCN with the RCA. 
 
In July 2013, the RCA scheduled public meetings in Fairbanks over 2 days where community 
members testified to the need and desire for energy relief.  The RCA used these public meetings 
to receive public input on the granting of a CPCN, which had been requested by both IGU (a 
public utility) and FNG (a private corporation with an existing service area within the COF). 
 
The RCA convened in September and October 2013 in Anchorage for a review of these two 
applications to determine the most “fit, willing, and able” entity to service the high and medium 
density areas of the FNSB outside the existing FNG service area. 
 



 

Page 3-8 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

On December 20, 2013, the RCA granted IGU the CPCN for the applied service area, with the 
condition of a minimum 5-day gas storage reserve based on the projected daily demand of non-
interruptible customers to protect and promote public interest. This is the same condition 
imposed on the FNG service area by Order U-96-129(3). While the IGU did make great 
concessions to regulate the build-out, operations, security of supply, ownership, and enforcement 
of conditions, the RCA found these to be not necessary to apply as a condition of the certificate 
as the IGU is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the FNSB, subject to the FNSB Assembly, including 
rate regulation. 
 
The RCA, therefore, concluded that IGU will not be economically regulated unless requested by 
the FNSB Assembly (RCA U-13-103). 
 
3.4 Serving Areas and Construction Timeline 
 
The FNG and IGU service areas are shown on Figure 3-3.  Transmission lines for IGU that will 
be built through the FNG area are shown on Figure 3-4. 
 
The IGU project follows an aggressive schedule, with construction work tentatively planned to 
begin in the downtown North Pole area in the summer of 2015.  Currently, the IGU project is a 
six-phase build out, as shown on Figure 3-5.  Details of each phase are provided in Appendix A.  
This schedule depends heavily on several variables, the largest of which is to secure funding at 
each stage of the project. 
 
The proposed timeline for phased construction is: 

 2014 – Gas Distribution Phase 1:  Design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for distribution 
and temporary LNG gas storage. 

 2015 – Initial Construction in North Pole:  Construction of distribution system temporary 
LNG gas storage (Phase 1), including design, ROW, permitting, and engineering. 

 2016 – First gas is delivered to customers: continue through North Pole/Badger Road (Phase 
2), including design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for distribution and LNG gas 
storage. 

 2017 – Complete Badger Road, move North and West from North Pole; complete 
construction of a permanent LNG storage facility (Phase 3), including design, ROW, 
permitting, and engineering for distribution and LNG gas storage. 

 2018 – North of Fairbanks:  Chena Hot Springs Road (Phase 4) design, ROW, permitting, 
and engineering for distribution and LNG gas storage. 

 2019 – Farmer’s Loop and Goldstream areas to University of Alaska, Fairbanks (Phase 5) 
design, ROW, permitting, and engineering for distribution and LNG gas storage. 

 2020 – Chena Ridge and West of Fairbanks (Phase 6) design, ROW, permitting, and 
engineering for distribution and LNG gas storage. 

 2021 – Ongoing service line construction. 
 
For a more detailed analysis and maps of the timeline and design, refer to Section 8, System 
Design and Construction.  



FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig3-3

FIGURE

SOURCE: IEP

3-3

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

FNSB NATURAL GAS SERVICE AREAS

0 2 miles

FNG 
SERVICE AREA

LEGEND:

IGU 
SERVICE AREA



 

Page 3-10 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
  



FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig3-4

FIGURE

3-4

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

PROPOSED IGU TRANSMISSION LINES 
THROUGH FNG SERVICE AREA

1 mile0

IGU BOUNDARY
10-INCH TRANSMISSION LINE

PROPOSED PIPELINE LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY, 
NOT INTENDED AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR OFFICIAL UTILITY LOCATES.

LEGEND:

8-INCH TRANSMISSION LINE

6-INCH DISTRIBUTION LINE

IGU PROPOSED GASLINE



 

Page 3-12 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
  



FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig3-5

FIGURE

3-5

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

IGU SERVICE AREA BY CONSTRUCTION PHASE

3 miles0

IGU BOUNDARY

ROADS

PROPOSED PIPELINE LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY, 
NOT INTENDED AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR OFFICIAL UTILITY LOCATES.

PHASE 1

PHASE 2

PHASE 3

PHASE 4

PHASE 5

PHASE 6

LEGEND:



 

Page 3-14 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
  



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 3-15 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

3.5 Financial Requirements of IGU and Rate Structure 
 
A Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT) analysis was done in June 2012 
by Northern Economics, Inc. (NEI) to assess the ability of IGU to meet the primary goal of 
achieving the lowest cost energy to the most people as soon as possible.  The NEI study 
estimated the number of natural gas customers and the timing of gas conversion, as well as the 
affects, costs, and financial implications of a Fairbanks Gas Distribution System. 
 
Some of the specific aspects considered in the SWOT analysis, based on preliminary system 
design and costs estimates, include (NEI, 2012): 

 Meet a capital investment requirement in the range of $283 to $606 million to complete high 
and medium demand areas, with a median investment requirement of about $404 million. 

 Determine the likelihood that PM 2.5 air quality reduction goals will be achieved.  One of the 
keys to achieving annual PM 2.5 attainment is switching solid fuel (coal/wood) heating 
systems to natural gas. This requires a cost of service for natural gas near $15/mcf, 
depending on current market prices of heating fuel. 

 
The SWOT and estimated costs indicate a state partnership organization – one with the support 
of grants or loan guarantee arrangements from AIDEA – could substantially improve project 
returns and end-user affordability. This economic structure benefits end-user costs near the 
$15/mcf target to promote switching from solid fuel to natural gas. With the monetary backing 
and financial support of the State, the partnership is likely to achieve community goals of low 
cost gas to the broadest service area, within 5 years or less (NEI, 2012). 
 
MWH updated the Class 4 Total Installed Cost estimate provided by the NEI Gas Distribution 
Analysis (MBJ, 2012) to reflect the costs for the IGU project.  A Class 4 estimate is defined, for 
accuracy and detail, by the Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering (AACE) as a 
project where design is 1% to 15% complete, with an expected accuracy range of +50%/-30%.  
A detailed analysis of the updated IGU area cost estimate is provided in Appendix B. 
 
Currently, funding scenarios are being driven based on a target cost to the consumer of near 
$15/mcf to meet the demand for lower-priced energy, making conversion attainable and the 
project economically feasible. Regardless of how the many financial scenarios are modeled, 
$15/mcf is the target price where the FNSB residents receive affordable gas that justifies the cost 
of conversions and provides reasonable space heating savings. 
 
3.6 Current Status of IGU 
 
The IGU initially began work on the following tasks with MWH: 

1. Project Kickoff 

2. Five-Year Plan (now called the Six-Year Plan) for Cost-Effective LNG Supply and 
Storage, including Gas Transmission, Distribution Customer Gas Conversion (this 
document) 



 

Page 3-16 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

3. Task Scoping and Project Management 

4. AIDEA Financing 
 
3.6.1 Project Kickoff 
 
The Project Kickoff included a Kickoff Meeting with the IGU Board to ensure alignment 
between MWH and IGU on the scope of work, priorities, and other critical aspects of the project. 
A working methodology was developed for how the Project Team will function and 
communicate on a daily, monthly, and quarterly basis with the public, media, and IGU Board, 
and sets the stage to execute IGU’s major goals. 
 
The Six-Year Plan incorporates existing studies using all available information on current cost 
estimates and schedules for the: LNG supply, trucking, and storage; gas transmission and 
distribution expansion; and customer gas conversion.  These studies include those done by NEI, 
HDR Inc., and CardnoENTRIX, as well as supporting documents from the FNSB, RCA, 
AIDEA, and IGU to determine the scope and cost of the project. 
 
The Six-Year Plan recommends a path forward based on these studies and current state of affairs.  
With IGU Board input, this plan was finalized in May 2014. 
 
3.6.2 Task Scoping and Project Management 
 
As the details of the IEP are evolving, the management of the IGU gas distribution project must 
respond accordingly.  Controlled management of the project determines the success of IGU by 
meeting the deliverables outlined by the IGU Board and stakeholders. 
 
3.6.3 Financing 
 
The path of this project begins with secure financing. While long-term financing negotiations 
continue, short-term financing has been authorized by the FNSB and AIDEA. 
 
The IGU Board has been supported by the FEDC with staff assistance and $9,500 in private 
equity. The FNSB has also supported IGU with staff assistance and delegated IGU to fulfill a 
2012 state appropriation of $3 million awarded to the FNSB for natural gas distribution. These 
monies were granted for pre-construction activities that allowed IGU determine the community 
need for such a project and apply to the RCA for a service area resulting in a CPCN, and were 
based on tasks authorized by the FNSB under the capital appropriation. The IGU provides 
quarterly updates to the FNSB Assembly and quarterly written updates to the FNSB 
demonstrating work that has been done based on the task. These are capital appropriations - or 
grants - from the state and do not need to be paid back. 
 
On March 27, 2014, the FNSB Assembly approved a $7.5 million line of credit for the IGU. 
These funds are intended to be used as bridge funding for anticipated gaps in the deposit of state 
funds.  These funds must be approved by the FSNB Chief Financial Officer and paid back within 
3 years of the withdrawal date, with fair market interest. 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 3-17 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

On April 3, 2014, AIDEA authorized $8.1 million from the SETS loan program for initial 
development work on the LNG gas distribution system. The loan terms allow a 0% interest for 
20 months and set a term negotiation agreement deadline for December 20, 2015. If final terms 
are not agreed upon by this date, the loan terms change to 3% for 40 years. 
 
The AIDEA financing component combines the financial strategies in the Six-Year Plan.  This 
task initiates a process to prepare backup materials, and then discuss and negotiate with AIDEA 
the sources of funds and associated terms and conditions required for the various phases of the 
project.  These tasks will be qualified by past reports and assumptions best known at the time of 
the request to show the capital outlay, debt service, and cash flow needed to execute IGU’s 
mission to provide low cost gas to the meter to as many people as possible, as quickly as possible 
within the IGU service area.  The IGU finance team has produced a comprehensive cost model 
that will allow multiple scenarios to be evaluated, including loan terms and conditions. More 
detail on the cost model is provided in Section 11, Financial Analysis. 
 
3.6.4 Keys to Implementation 
 
The keys to implementing this complex Six-Year Plan is setting up clear communication tools 
that allow the team to constantly update, evaluate, and demonstrate the project details as they are 
moving forward. Project management and coordination with all stakeholders is essential to keep 
the project focused and on schedule. This includes setting up systems to manage risk, 
infrastructure build out, customer conversion, and finances. 
 
The keys to a successful project are: 

 Board involvement and direction. 

 Available funding and associated terms and conditions. 

 Stakeholder involvement. 

 Supply chain liability. 

 Project Manager responsiveness. 

 Public acceptance. 
 
  



 

Page 3-18 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 4-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

4.0 PREVIOUS STUDIES 
 
Several studies have been done on a natural gas distribution project to the Interior and this 
section lists applicable studies in an easy-to-reference format.  This includes work completed by 
NEI (Gas Distribution System Analysis, 2012, and Residential Household Survey) and 
CardnoENTRIX (Conversion Analysis), which were used extensively to provide the framework 
for which the Six-Year Plan was written.  Costs on trucking were provided mainly from the Pro-
log Trucking Analysis. 
 
4.1 Study Matrix 
 
The studies utilized for the development of the 6-year build out are provided in Table 4-1, and 
four of the main ones are discussed below. 
 
4.1.1 Northern Economics Inc. 
 
NEI delivered to FNSB and IGU work that analyzed various scenarios for an optimized, rapid 
build-out of a natural gas system to serve the FNSB. This work entailed developing gas demand, 
determining the potential impact to improving the air quality, and conducting a survey within the 
community to identify the cost and willingness to convert homes and businesses to natural gas. 
 
NEI gas distribution studies in 2012 and 2013 looked at the development of a gas distribution 
network and an estimate of cost to build this network out. Assumptions were made for the 
number of homes and businesses that might convert to natural gas and what impact that would 
have on the air quality.  Additionally, a study was completed on the cost that focused on initially 
building out the area from Badger Road south to North Pole. 
 
Between August 24 and September 4, 2013, a Residential Household Survey was conducted by 
telephone to establish home heating systems and willingness to convert.  This survey had a 
margin of error of +/-3.5% on yes/no questions.  Twenty-one questions were asked of 800 
households in the FNSB and included topics on: heating system type and fuel expenditure 
(primary and secondary), age of primary system, participation in AHFC loan programs, 
willingness to convert to natural gas, air quality, age and size of home, and respondent 
demographics (NEI, 2013). 
 
The survey shows that FNSB homeowners are very interested in heating with natural gas, and 
this interest level runs across demographic and attitudinal factors.  Generally, homeowners 
believe bringing natural gas to Fairbanks will help the economy, raise property values, and 
improve air quality; however, conversion costs pose a marked hesitancy to the benefits.  The 
study finds that in order to generate conversion rates above 50%, residential conversion costs 
should be kept to below $6,000 per home (NEI, 2013). 
 
 



 

Page 4-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

Table 4-1 IGU Studies 

Study Name Date Done By Other Name(s) Description 

IEP Economic Impact 
Analysis 

4/1/14 CardnoENTRIX  
Review of IMPLAN modeling data and analysis of the economic 
impacts of the IEP using assumptions provided in the 
CardnoENTRIX IEP Conversion Analysis. 

LNG Transportation Analysis 2/20/14 Prolog Canada   
Assesses the costs and logistics of trucking gas from the NS to 
FNSB.  

Google Earth (GE) Map on 
Proposed IGU Distribution 
System 

2/14/14 MWH   

The GE map is found under 'Maps' on the IGU website: 
www.interiorgas.com for download only.  Must have GE to view.  
An interactive map using GE technology allowing a user to closely 
evaluate proposed transmission lines within each phase of the 
build-out 

AIDEA Project Schedule 1/23/14 AIDEA   Updated graph showing AIDEA's project schedule.  

IEP Conversion Analysis 1/14/14 CardnoENTRIX CardnoENTRIX Study 
Fairbanks LNG Distribution System Conversion and Demand 
Analysis for residential and commercial customers. 

IEP Distribution Map 12/20/13 AIDEA   Updated map of FNG and IGU service areas. 

IEP Financial Model Analysis 
(updated) 

12/9/13 AIDEA   
Updated (from 11/18/13 version) comparison of overall project 
costs and projected annual residential savings between three 
bidders (Pentex, Spectrum, and MWH) based on term sheets.   

IEP Commercial & Finance 
Overview 

11/19/13 
Western 
Financial Group/ 
AIDEA Board 

OVERVIEW_IEP 
Commercial 
Overview_11-18-13 v2 

Update and review on IEP Project and Senate Bill 23.  

IEP Financial Model Analysis    11/18/13 AIDEA   
Compares overall project costs and projected annual residential 
savings between three bidders (Pentex, Spectrum, and MWH) 
based on term sheets. 

Natural Gas in the FNSB: 
Results from a Residential 
Household Survey  

11/1/13 NEI 
IGU Residential 
Household Survey 
Report 

An 800-person telephone survey done August/September 2013 
conducted to evaluate energy use, customer conversion rates at 
various $/mcf, burner tip and hardware costs, and needed financial 
assistance rates and participation. 

LNG Storage Tank Cost 
Analysis 

7/19/13 
Michael Baker 
Jr. Inc. 

 MBJ Storage Report 
This analysis is a Basis of the Cost Estimate for LNG Storage for 
the IGU Fairbanks Gas Distribution Advancement Project. 

   



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 4-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

Table 4-1 (Cont.)   IGU Studies 
Study Name Date Done By Other Name(s) Description 

IEP Feasibility Report 7/1/13 AIDEA Feasibility Report 

AIDEA's analysis on the feasibility and technicality of the NS 
project in delivering gas to FNSB economically. The study finds 
that the NS plant can economically deliver LNG to the FNSB below 
the current heating fuel costs. The study does not include the costs 
of regasification, storage, or distribution costs from the NS to the 
FNSB.  

Estimated Natural Gas 
Demand for North Slope LNG 
Project 

6/21/13 NEI   
Memo on residential/commercial demand and conversion 
estimates. Provided as an attachment to the FNSB modular.  

Interior Energy Plan: 
North Slope / Fairbanks LNG 
Project Engineering Brief and 
Consultant Team 
Recommendations 

4/23/13 HDR, Inc. Final Engineering Brief Engineering study reviewing the costs and feasibility of the project.  

Trucking Prolog  3/27/13 Prolog Canada 
LNG Trucking Report; 
Pro-log study 

Transportation costs and trucking needs. 

Completed Natural Gas 
Demand Estimates by Phase  

11/20/12 NEI 
Estimated Natural Gas 
Demand 

Memo on residential and commercial sectors natural gas demand 
estimates for the three phases of the initial development of the 
Fairbanks Natural Gas Distribution System in the FNSB. 

Cost Estimate Phases I-III  11/15/12 
Michael Baker 
Jr. Inc. 

2 FNSB Gas Study 
Phase I-III 

Cost estimates of entire project from Phases I through III. 

Gas Distribution System 
Analysis 

6/29/12 NEI 

1. IGU Gas Distribution 
Study 

2. GDSA 
3. FNSB GDSA 

First inclusive study done on the Gas Distribution System detailing 
the specifics of the project, outlining the feasibility, and reviewing 
the economic and environmental factors on its necessity.  

Key: 
AIDEA – Alaska Industrial Development and Export Authority  IMPLAN – Impact Analysis for Planning 
FNG – Fairbanks Natural Gas      LNG – liquefied natural gas 
FNSB – Fairbanks North Star Borough     mcf – thousand cubic feet 
GDSA – Gas Distribution System Analysis    MWH – MWH Americas, Inc. 
IEP – Interior Energy Project      NEI – Northern Economics, Inc. 
IGU – Interior Gas Utility      NS – North Slope 



 

Page 4-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

4.1.2 CardnoENTRIX IEP Natural Gas Conversion Analysis 
 
CardnoENTRIX was hired by AIDEA to provide a conversion analysis that looked at the various 
ownerships of the housing stock, as well as the gas demand.  This study was used to determine 
the projected demand for gas annually in the IGU service area as the build out for the gas system 
is constructed. 
 
The IEP Natural Gas Conversion Analysis (CE, 2014a) analyzed the need and economic impacts 
of natural gas conversion in the Fairbanks and North Pole areas.  This study reviewed existing 
consumer heating systems, willingness to convert, demand of natural gas, economic benefits, and 
overall review of PM 2.5 emissions based on a mock 6-year build out developed by Alaska 
Energy Authority (AEA).  Much of this study was derived from information and experience in 
the 2013 Homer, Alaska, natural gas conversion project.  Although there are significant 
differences in these projects, the willingness to convert and the outreach mechanisms used to 
engage the public is able to be applied to this project with a high confidence of compatibility. 
 
The CardnoENTRIX Study reviewed, in depth, conversion rates, heating systems, demographics 
based on 2010 Census data, air quality, and economics.  This study provided much of the 
information included in this Six-Year Plan. 
 
4.1.3 CardnoENTRIX IEP Economic Impact Analysis 
 
The IEP Economic Impact Analysis (CE, 2014b), released in April 2014, reviews the estimated 
impacts of the IEP within the FNSB. However, the study mostly focuses on the natural gas 
distribution system build out from both IGU and FNG. This study is based on the assumptions of 
the CardnoENTRIX IEP Conversion Analysis, which does not account for any conversions from 
wood-only homes (roughly 5% of the FNSB population). In addition, this study accounts for 
IGU to begin construction in 2016, although current plans call for construction to begin in the 
summer of 2015 within Phase 1. 
 
The IEP Economic Impact Analysis reviews the potential industries affected (positively or 
negatively), the methods and data used to derive the information, and the employment and 
income impacts within the FNSB – including disposable income estimates within the years of 
anticipated conversion using Impact Analysis for Planning (IMPLAN) software and 2012 
IMPLAN data. For this study, those years are 2016 to 2028. 
 
4.1.4 Agnew::Beck 
 
Agnew::Beck conducted a focus group as part of the Fairbanks LNG Demand and Distribution 
Analysis in October 2013.  Participants represented 41 households. The results were favorable to 
the project, with a high interest in conversion.  Responses indicated that 95% of the participants 
would convert, and 62% said they would convert within 1 year.  This number grew to 74% when 
incentives were discussed.  The group provided relevant detail to what a successful conversion 
program would entail (ease of program, lower monthly bills immediately, and a reasonable 
payback period) and indicated they generally preferred to pay with cash, not using loans to 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 4-5 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

convert. This response could be related to the general older age and affluence of the group, all of 
whom were homeowners, and probably does not accurately reflect the situation of the average 
FNSB resident (CE, 2014a). 
 
As wood is the second largest primary heating source in the area, it is important to note that this 
study does not include homes that use wood as their primary fuel source, equating to 11% of the 
possible conversion population.  Residents heating with coal or other sources are nominal and 
included in the “other”, about 3% of the sample. This reduced the survey sample to 699 
households (NEI, 2013). 
 
 
  



 

Page 4-6 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 5-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

5.0 FNSB BENEFITS 
 
The FNSB and community stand to benefit greatly from the completion of this project, 
environmentally and economically.  The sections below address the December 2014 U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) deadline for PM 2.5 air quality attainment and the 
benefits to the community in terms of general health, health care costs, and quality of life. 
 
5.1 Environmental 
 
In December 2009, the EPA formally designated the FNSB as a non-attainment area for federal 
PM 2.5 air quality standards after exceeding the health-based, 24-hour exposure limit of 35 
micrograms/cubic meter for fine particulate matter (ADEC, 2014), and set a deadline of 
December 31, 2014, for the FNSB to comply with these regulations (Clean Air Act [CAA] 
Section 110 and 172).  Figure 5-1 shows the non-attainment area for the FNSB. 
 
The atmospheric inversion, high heating costs (wood providing for cheap fuel), and extreme cold 
weather patterns increase the necessity for this area to be prioritized for PM 2.5 air quality 
control, most notably in the winter months. While the Interior is subject to poor air quality and 
PM 2.5 risk in the summer, these conditions are referred to as natural, uncontrollable, and 
exceptional events (ADEC, 2014). 
 
Figure 5-2 shows a winter comparison of air quality exceeding the federal level based on the 
latest data from 2006. A monitor, located in downtown Fairbanks at the State Office Building, 
collects a 24-hour sample every third day (blue). For a sampling frequency of every third day, 
the measured concentration on the sampling day represents the 2 days without measurement 
(red).  As a result, one exceedance counts as three for regulatory activities.  The data used for 
this graph has been thoroughly reviewed and validated and, thus, is subject to regulatory 
activities (ADEC, 2014). 
 
Because the FNSB was deemed a non-attainment area in 2009, the state, along with local 
governments, were required to submit a State Implementation Plan (SIP) by December 31, 2012, 
which outlines how attainment would be achieved by the deadline of December 31, 2014.  An air 
quality plan continues to be developed that will improve air quality and address the high cost of 
space heating.  A mix of programs is included, among them expanding natural gas availability 
within the FNSB.  The SIP outlines the following actions to reach attainment by the end of 2014: 

 Solid Fuel (Wood and Coal) Heating Device Change Outs, Removal, Repair Programs 

 Expanded Solid Fuel Heating Device Change Out Program for Hot Spot Areas 

 Expansion of Natural Gas Availability for Space Heating (InteriorEnergyProject.com) 

 Public Education – Benefits of Using Dry Wood, Best Burning Practices, Efficient Heating 
Devices 

 Proposed State Regulations on Wintertime Open Burning, Wood Heater Emission Standards, 
Appropriate Fuels for Solid-Fuel Heating Devices, and Formal Air Episode Levels Coupled 
with Flexible Response Program for Wood Heaters 



 

Page 5-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

 AHFC Home Energy Rebate and Weatherization Programs 

 Expanded Transit and Vanpooling 

 Expanded Parking Lot Plug-ins for Motor Vehicles 

 Projects to Reduce Diesel Vehicle/Equipment Emissions 

 Emission Reductions from Motor Vehicles through the Federal Emission Standards for New 
Vehicles 

 Existing Stationary Source Permit Programs 
 
In addition to the natural gas distribution, the plan is reviewing positive effects of the railbelt 
expansion, which have the potential to deliver other low-cost heating options. These projects 
include the Susitna-Watana Hydroelectric Project, Healy Power Plant Unit 2, Eva Creek Wind 
Project, and the development of additional gas from Cook Inlet (ADEC, 2013a). 
 
Based on air quality data from the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC), 
and estimates of household conversion, providing a lower-cost heating option that would 
incentivize the use of natural gas could reduce the amount of wood smoke emissions by up to 
approximately 32%, which is estimated to reduce approximately 234 tons of PM 2.5 emissions 
(CE, 2014a).  The IEP Natural Gas Conversion Analysis concluded that health and other benefits 
from improved air quality could range from $64 million to $200 million by 2020, based on a 
wide range of values found within previous studies (CE, 2014a). While natural gas distribution 
alone may not completely reduce PM 2.5 to the federally-required standard, it will address the 
problem significantly, demonstrating to the federal government the community’s action to 
improve poor air quality. 
 
The NEI Gas Distribution Analysis shows an even greater effect from converting wood-fired 
systems to natural gas (NEI, 2012).  The NEI data, based on research done by SLR International 
Corporation in 2012, shows a 95% PM 2.5 emission reduction. This higher figure is mostly 
likely due to the inclusion of wood-only burning households in the data. While the real effects 
will not be fully realized until the completion of the conversion phase (2027), it is reasonable to 
assume that natural gas conversions will play a significant role in reducing fuel-sourced 
emissions from residential structures. 
 
If the state fails to implement the SIP by deadline, the EPA has the power to impose sanctions or 
other penalties on the state, including the loss of federal highway transportation funds, and 
additional requirements to offset emissions from industrial projects within the non-attainment 
area. The state must also show willingness to assist the community in attaining or maintain the 
standard (ADEC, 2013b). 
 
Air quality affects the quality of life and attractiveness of Interior Alaska for everyone who lives 
and visits the area. Military personnel stationed in Fairbanks often cite poor air quality as a 
reason to apply for a transfer to a different location (CE, 2014a).  The military generates 30% of 
jobs in the area, equating to $3.9 billion to the local economy (FEDC, 2014).  Reducing PM 2.5 
air emissions has far reaching benefits throughout the community and state.  



FIGURE

5-1

10504203.010102

SIX-YEAR PLAN

FNSB PM 2.5 NON-ATTAINMENT BOUNDARY

SOURCE: 
FAIRBANKS NORTH STAR BOROUGH
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY PLANNING  TD
JANUARY 6, 2009

LEGEND:

2 miles0

EPA PM25 NA BOUNDARY

MPO BOUNDARY

Murphy Dome Road

S
h
e
e
p
 C

re
e
k
 R

o
a
d

Goldstream Road

Parks Highway

Airport Way

Richardson Highway

Badger R
oad

Badger R
oad

N
o

rd
a

le
 R

o
a

d

Chena Hot Springs Rd

F
a
rm

e
r’s L

o
o
p
 R

o
a
d

C
h
e
n
a
 P

u
m

p
 R

o
a
d

C
hena R

id
ge R

oad

S
te

es
e 

H
ig

hw
ay

Colle
ge R

oad

FILE:    S:\CAD\Proj\IANGU\10504203 IGU Six-Year Plan\final\Fig5-1



 

Page 5-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
  



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 5-5 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

 
Figure 5-2 Winter Comparison of PM 2.5 Exceedances in Fairbanks 

 
5.2 Economic 
 
The net current value of cost savings for changing from heating fuel to natural gas is estimated at 
$835.1 million through 2027, the year final conversions are expected to occur.  As the number of 
household conversions increase, the price of natural gas is likely to decrease – as the costs of 
LNG plant, storage, regasification and delivery costs are further distributed (CE, 2014a). 
 
In 2012, an economic survey concluded (AIDEA, 2013): 

“Construction and operation of a piped natural gas distribution system in the high-
density and medium-density areas of the FNSB, and a propane distribution system in the 
low-density areas of the borough, has the potential to reduce fuel costs for space heating 
of residential and commercial structures from approximately $524 million in 2021, the 
first full year of operations, to about $210 million, a savings of roughly $315 million 
annually, a savings of 60 percent compared to the status quo using fuel oil and wood. 
These estimates will change with different assumptions or if capital costs or commodity 
costs change, but the magnitude of the savings is so large that it is evident that 
substantial savings will accrue under almost any future scenario that employs natural 
gas and propane.” 
 

A reduction of energy costs affords residents the ability to spend more disposable income in the 
community, improving economic stability, and increasing the quality – and longevity – of life 

0

10

20

30

40

2003‐04 2004‐5 2005‐6 2006‐07 2007‐08 2008‐09 2009‐10 2010‐11 2011‐12 2012‐13

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
ay
s 
e
xc
e
e
d
in
g 
th
e
 2
0
0
6
 2
4
‐h
o
u
r 
P
M
2
.5
 

N
A
A
Q
S

Winter Exceedances

Winter Comparison:  Number of Daily Concentrations Exceeding EPA's  

PM2.5 Standard (35 g/m3) at the Fairbanks State Office Building Primary 
Monitor 

Regulatory exceedances (assuming a daily
collection schedule)

Measured exceedances (assuming a one‐
in‐three day collection schedule)



 

Page 5-6 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

amongst residents. Increased spending within the FNSB for goods and services are estimated to 
support an increase of 340 jobs annually, resulting in $15 million in income from 2014 to 2027 
(CE, 2014b). 
 
Jobs and gross income estimates related to both construction and operations in the FNSB are 
expected to yield an average of 440 direct and indirect jobs relating to construction, with an 
average labor income of $29.1 million until 2021. It is important to note when referencing these 
particular numbers, that they include both FNG and IGU gas distribution project plans (CE, 
2014b). 
 
The long term operations predicted from 2014 to 2028 conclude an average of 580 local jobs, 
with an average labor income of $23.4 million, is anticipated.  The study predicts an indirect 
economic impact from other FNSB businesses to equate to approximately 520 jobs and $10.9 
million (CE, 2014b). 
 
The Economic Impact Analysis, based on the Conversion Analysis, assumes heating system 
installation costs will flow to local heating and plumbing contractors, at an average $4,300 per 
household (CE, 2014b).  While this generates economic impact within the business community, 
it is also noted that heating oil distribution companies will be adversely affected since the need 
for heating fuel will be reduced by 47 million gallons from current consumption by 2028 – 
resulting in a total estimated reduction of $128.9 million in direct, indirect, and induced income, 
with an average annual loss of 220 jobs through 2028.  These estimates are based on conversion 
rates assumed in the Conversion Analysis of 77% (CE, 2014a). 
 
The IEP is expected to generate between 250 and 840 jobs, depending on the construction year, 
resulting in $16.5 million to $55.2 million in total income just within the FNSB (CE, 2014b). 
 
This project represents a major milestone for Interior Alaska, one that has eluded the Interior for 
years. IGU’s goal is focused on completing all six phases of this project, as certified to do so by 
the RCA, using the tools available in SB 23 to meet the IEP target price of approximately 
$15/mcf at the customer’s meter. 
 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 6-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

6.0 COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 
In July 2013, the RCA held a public meeting during the CPCN application process and invited 
public testimony on the community energy crisis.  Some participants spoke in favor – or against 
– a particular applicant, but most people were there to express to the RCA that the community is 
suffering in many ways under high energy costs and poor air quality. 
 
On February 24, 2014, MWH held a Design Charrette with key state agencies, public utilities, 
private companies, and governmental officials to discuss the project’s progress and proposed 
timeline. Topics addressed were: 

 The gas distribution system. 

 The build out and schedule. 

 Coordination of other construction projects. 

 ROW permitting needs. 

 Review of perceived challenges. 

 To establish and build on relationships. 
 
MWH presented the overall, six-phase layout for the Distribution and Transmission system using 
a Google Earth map (circa 2009-2010), and constructed of maps from NEI and the AEA (August 
2013). Participants then had the opportunity to discuss each phase of the project build out and 
ask questions. Map sets were provided that participants referred to during the Charrette and took 
with them afterward. 
 
The outcome of this Charrette was the opportunity to reach out to stakeholders to demonstrate 
the general plan of the project by reviewing each phase together. The group showed enthusiasm 
about the project and voiced their support for moving forward and working together. 
 
6.1  Communication Plan 
 
Effective communication begins by using specific messages that apply to the many stakeholders 
involved in this project. These stakeholders have been identified as: 

 Customers 

 Borough and Municipal Governments – FNSB, COF, and CONP 

 Governmental Entities – AIDEA, RCA, Alaska Department of Transportation and Public 
Facilities (ADOT&PF), Alaska Railroad, Alaska Legislature 

 Utilities – Golden Valley Electric Association (GVEA) and FNG 

 Building Trades and Contractors 

 Private Sector 

 General Public 
 
Some of these messages may be the same, as everyone could be interested in the distribution 
plan, for example, but specific groups will be best communicated with using specific messages. 



 

Page 6-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

For instance, customers are going to be more interested in conversion costs and cost savings at 
their meter, while contractors will need to know about construction bid deadlines, the type and 
size of equipment needed, and the number of jobs that each construction phase forecasts. Further, 
private businesses who sell natural gas boilers and furnaces need to know what areas will be 
converting first, and who is most likely to convert during the build out process to educate their 
customers and meet the demand of hardware sales, materials, and installation requests. 
 
This project is designed to work closely with governmental agencies for: funding; transportation 
needs; coordination on ROW, easements, and permits; and construction projects.  Utilities will 
be interested to know the specifications of the project, and if any of the product supply can help 
reduce their operating costs or provide value-added services to their customers.  Many other 
examples apply, and the Communications Plan is designed to provide an avenue of 
communication that is responsive and sensitive to each stakeholder need. 
 
6.2 Toolbox 
 
Communication tools are meant to be living documents for processes that can be molded to fit a 
specific situation or outreach method. Establishing early the protocol for excellent 
communication will be a key factor to smoothly transition from each function of the utility for 
seamless interaction with stakeholders and the community at large. 
 
The IGU website is the online face of the IGU. It requires constant updating as the project 
develops and changes. The IGU website will serve as the main component to disseminate the 
latest information, news, and updates on this project. The website has built-in back-end 
capabilities that allow data collection, grouping of the data, and the ability to microtarget 
messages to an audience based on their known identities and interests. This information can be 
integrated into an IGU database collection to increase our understanding of public interest 
profiles. The website serves as an interactive tool in day-to-day activities and in the event of an 
emergency. As IGU develops, the website will grow and include capabilities for customers to 
pay their bills online, and view their accounts. This effort is ongoing and growing. 
 
Working with the media is an important and particularly useful tool in communications 
development. Ensuring the media has the correct understanding of the project, and accessibility 
to the decision makers when necessary, will drive favorable stories and coverage from the news 
media (provided we are doing favorable things), and can be demonstrated through a media 
packet describing the project, the people involved and documents that help reporters tell a story 
with Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) and other pertinent information. Forging the 
relationships between press and scheduling regular meetings with the Fairbanks News Miner 
editorial board are ways in which these relationships can be cultivated for a mutually beneficial 
relationship. 
 
The Communications Plan utilizes a host of technological options to develop an online presence 
through social media, quarterly e-newsletters (may also be mailed), electronic surveys, and 
emails. As technology advances, staying up-to-date and in-touch with customers using the latest 
tools is paramount and should be given attention daily. 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 6-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

Beginning in the summer of 2014, community focus group sessions, or town hall meetings, may 
become necessary to engage, educate, and gather information on residents within Phases 1 and 2. 
These focus groups will become refined through the process to be used for further Phase 
research.  These will help in crafting community messages, establishing the IGU brand within 
the community, and expanding contact distribution lists. 
 
A mail campaign will be used specifically for construction notices, community events, and other 
pertinent information. These will be administered intentionally and on an “as-needed” basis. 
 
The IGU staff and Board of Directors have begun to address niche communities to update, 
inform, educate, learn, and build relationships with community groups by using local and state 
speaker forums. These forums, such as the Chamber of Commerce, FEDC, Rotary and Kiwanis 
Clubs, and others, will provide essential information and relationships that generate buy-in and a 
positive feeling about the work of the IGU.  Interaction and involvement in the public is 
necessary to build brand awareness and to expose the mission of the IGU. This will be further 
explored through local and statewide memberships to community organizations that can help the 
IGU fulfill their mission as a community partner, and by participating in community events, such 
as Golden Days and the Midnight Sun Festival, as well as trade shows throughout the year. 
 
There is no better way to make IGU real than to appear at the door. This part of the 
communication strategy is to personalize the utility with the customer, be approachable, answer 
questions, and provide information about the project with a face-to-face interaction. This work is 
anticipated to begin in the Summer of 2014 to introduce IGU and discuss conversion options and 
construction plans with the residents in the first phase of the project. Door hangers are also an 
effective way to personalize a mass message, especially regarding upcoming construction. 
 
A Customer Service Handbook will be developed and provided for each IGU leadership and 
staff; and training opportunities on customer service and media relations best practices adopted 
by IGU will be offered.  This will be a required training component for anyone interacting with 
the public and/or the media, and may require the assistance of a third-party vendor.  Since IGU is 
in a unique position of literally building an organization from the ground up, leadership may be 
involved in developing this handbook so that values and practices included truly reflect the 
personality and brand of the IGU. 
 
A Crisis Communication Plan is imperative to have internally as the organization grows.  This 
will cover how IGU plans on addressing crisis situations – such as natural disasters, public 
defamation, conspiracy, on-site accidents, gas explosions and leaks, environmental disasters, 
disruption of service, and disgruntled employees. This plan is to be developed in the summer of 
2014, most likely with the assistance of a third-party vendor, and will be subject to annual 
reviews, and bi-annual crisis drills. 
 
A government relations component will be developed to best work with local, state, and federal 
elected officials on legislation, events, and information that advocates or advances the mission of 
IGU.  The first and most pressing issue is developing a conversion assistance solution by the 
next legislative session in 2015. 
 



 

Page 6-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

Finally, all types of communications must be consistent in branding, tone, and messaging. The 
comprehensive Communications Plan pulls together the above components into a well-packaged 
public relations and media campaign, with a professional and recognizable look.  These 
messages will be developed by working with a local agency who can help the IGU develop these 
materials to best reflect and compliment the overall goals of the IEP. 
 
The components of a recommended Communications Plan include: 

 Website 

 Community Focus Groups 

 “Town Hall” Meetings 

 Mail 

 Newsletters (Mail and Email) 

 Speakers Forum/Presentations 

 Door-to-Door 

 Customer Service Handbook 

 Crisis Communications Plan 

 Government Relations 

 Brand Development 

 Annual Customer Meetings 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 7-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

7.0 STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS AND WORKING RELATIONSHIPS 
 
This complex project requires extensive expertise, both professional and institutional, and these 
relationships are reviewed and carefully defined in this section. 
 
7.1 Strategic Partnerships – Supply Chain 
 
The project supply chain is shown on Figure 7-1, from the North Slope LNG Plant to the end 
users. 
 

 
 

Figure 7-1 IGU Project Supply Chain 

 
The North Slope LNG Plant is currently being pursued with AIDEA financing, along with 
private equity investors. 
 
Transportation and trucking of the gas will also be an important part of the planning phase. 
Trucks will haul LNG from the North Slope LNG Plant over 500 miles down the Dalton 
Highway to a storage and regasification facility. The partnership, location, and storage needs of 
the regasification and storage facility are undefined at this time, but as the distribution system 
begins to build out, storage needs will have been developed and permanent location structures 
should be underway. 
 
Developments are ongoing relating to the North Slope LNG Facility – commercial terms 
negotiations are underway while permitting and construction procurement proposals are ongoing 
and under review (AIDEA, 2014). 
  



 

Page 7-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

Additionally, AIDEA has hired a consulting firm to look at a total supply chain management 
analysis (gas production, trucking, storage, and regasification) to allow for the most efficient and 
lowest cost of gas FOB Fairbanks. 
 
7.2 Working Relationships 
 
AIDEA is the state Authority administering the funding mechanism to support the entire IEP. 
This Authority has the ability to award grants and loans at a fixed, low interest rate, as well as 
the flexibility to negotiate terms and conditions of funding options under SB 23.  AIDEA is 
currently managing the project contract for the LNG plant facility and storage components of the 
IEP, while overseeing and working toward the gas distribution system expansion of IGU and 
FNG. 
 
GVEA was a supporter of IGU during the RCA process, and continues to be an important partner 
on gas storage and regasification.  GVEA has expressed an interest in developing a partnership 
for gas storage with IGU.  Currently, GVEA is discussing with IGU to take the lead on financing 
through AIDEA, engineering design, and construction of a tank situated on land GVEA owns 
near the North Pole Plant (H and H Road and Old Richardson Highway).  GVEA would agree to 
lease the property and work toward developing a ‘take-or-pay’ contract for gas that covers their 
share of the cost of the facility.  The maximum tank size for this location is anticipated at 2.2 
million gallons (MG), where IGU would use 1.2 MG and GVEA would use 1.0 MG.  
Discussions on ‘take-or-pay’ agreements and storage options are ongoing. 
 
FNG owns the existing natural gas distribution system in the highest density area of the COF.  
This private company was awarded a CPCN in 1997 to serve this area with over 5,000 potential 
customers, and currently services 1,100 customers (RCA U-13-103).  FNG applied for the same 
service area to the RCA as IGU on April 8, 2013. In April 2014, FNG was authorized $15 
million from AIDEA to expand their existing gas distribution pipeline in 2014 and 2015 (CE, 
2014b).  IGU recognizes the importance of a solid working partnership with FNG in order to 
provide timely, low-cost natural gas to as many people as possible.  IGU continues to work 
toward their commonalities with FNG to provide energy relief to the community. 
 
IGU is the product of a working group focused on energy under the FEDC umbrella. FEDC has 
played a significant role in coordinating a dedicated group of community leaders committed to 
providing low cost natural gas to the most people as possible, as soon as possible, and has 
supported the IGU’s mission through staff, materials, funding, development, and resources.  IGU 
regularly meets in the FEDC conference room, and relies on accounting support from FEDC 
staff.  This relationship has been fundamental to the growth of IGU. 
 
The IGU will maintain a close working relationship with employees, departments, and leadership 
within the FNSB, CONP, and COF.  The IGU depends on these local governments for: financial 
assistance; administrative and legal support, including coordination in community projects; 
website updates; institutional knowledge; and community influence. 
 
While the creation of the IGU and LNG gas distribution project is mostly seen positively, there is 
a population of the community that is not in favor of a public utility. This is a very important 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 7-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

voice in the community which should be handled firmly, yet respectfully. Also, finding ways to 
work with heating oil distribution companies and coal producers, whose business and income 
may be jeopardized by the success of this project, should be carefully considered. 
 
IGU recognizes there may be partnerships throughout the state and Canada that are ideal to 
develop as contingency resources in the event of a disrupted supply of LNG from the primary 
North Slope source, and will continue to develop these relationships. 
 
  



 

Page 7-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 8-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

8.0 SYSTEM DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 
 
The system design is proposed on an aggressive 6-year build out schedule.  This section reviews: 
the process; technical and safety standards; the proposed transmission line build-out for each 
phase, along with approximate costs and schedule; and the relationship to other aspects of the 
project, including permitting considerations. 
 
8.1 Design Process 
 
At least three consultants are expected to be contracted for work pertaining to the design – one 
each for Phase 1 and Phase 2 and a third consultant for storage development. These consultants 
are expected to be contracted in 2014 through a competitive proposal process and will be 
contracted through IGU and managed by MWH.  The consultants will begin work on design, 
ROW, and permitting for the distribution system and will stay with that phase of the project for 
which they are contracted through construction. In addition, engineering for both temporary and 
permanent gas storage and regasification is anticipated to occur concurrent with the distribution 
system design work. 
 
8.2 Technical and Safety Standards 
 
IGU will follow the requirements of the U.S. Department of Transportation Pipeline and 
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA) and the Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS) 
Standards. Operator Qualifications and Integrity Management procedures will be developed that 
meet the requirement of Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 192, as required for operators of 
natural gas pipeline systems and LNG facilities. 
 
IGU will create a safe work environment for the construction of their projects, the operation of 
their facilities, and their integration into the community.  MWH will prepare an overall analysis 
of IGU’s and FNG’s service areas to ensure that an economical, viable, and sustainable storage 
and distribution system is constructed.  As they are two separate, but adjoining service areas, it is 
imperative that this analysis be conducted from the stand point of compatibility of common 
components and also from the standpoint of independent operations.  As part of this analysis, 
IGU will ensure that the design and construction principles to be used will meet all federal, state, 
and local standards – with emphasis on cold weather construction and operations. 
 
8.3 Gas Distribution 
 
8.3.1 Distribution System Build-out 
 
The IGU Service Area planning map is the culmination of maps developed by NEI/ Michael 
Baker, Jr. Inc. (MBJ) and AEA, originally developed to assess the miles of pipe for the project.  
On the IGU phase maps (Appendix A), the blue, green, and red lines are transmission and 
distribution feeder lines, provided by NEI/MBJ.  The orange lines are distribution lines to 
neighborhoods and homes, provided by AEA, 2013.  These preliminary maps are demonstrated 
using Google Earth software, which provides the ability to hone into potential service locations.   



 

Page 8-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

The system layout will be further refined once hydraulic modeling is performed and layouts 
optimize the system and further refined by the design consultants based on local constraints 
permitting and ROW needs. 
 
8.3.2 Demand Analysis 
 
The conversion tables used in the Conversion Analysis (CE, 2014a) were modified to only focus 
on the IGU service area, and to incorporate that first year customers connected include only half 
of a calendar year of demand.  These results are provided in Table 8-1, and the annual gas 
demand is shown on Figure 8-1. 
 

 
 

Figure 8-1 IGU Service Area Natural Gas Demand 

 
The demand analysis accounts for homeowners to use approximately half of their average annual 
consumption in the year of conversion. This is due to the fact that most homeowners will not 
convert in the fall/winter months due to risks associated with conversion changes in extreme 
weather, although if they did, they would still be using half of their average annual consumption 
because the natural gas would not be available for the entire year. Instead, it is anticipated that 
most homeowners will convert in the spring/summer months following the completion of the 
phase in their area. 
 
 

 -

 500,000

 1,000,000

 1,500,000

 2,000,000

 2,500,000

 3,000,000

 3,500,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

D
am

an
d

 (
M

C
F

)

Phase 1-6

Phase 1-3



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 8-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

Table 8-1 IGU Area Customer and Gas Demand/Growth 

Item 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

Volumes (mcf) 

Single Family Residence 112,363 247,350 457,749 729,985 1,033,139 1,310,654 1,490,888 1,584,398 1,635,678 1,664,335 

Multi-Family Residence 25,000 40,000 70,000 105,000 150,000 235,000 305,000 330,000 345,000 350,000 

Commercial – Small 10,530 26,033 50,066 75,319 101,936 142,903 176,264 190,060 196,300 196,300 

Commercial – Medium 65,500 147,100 273,800 396,300 480,800 543,300 575,800 587,800 592,000 592,000 

Commercial – Large 8,000 14,200 25,600 38,600 47,800 53,600 55,400 56,000 56,000 56,000 

Industrial 13,600 13,600 16,600 19,400 22,200 23,400 24,000 24,000 24,000 24,000 

Totals 234,993 488,283 893,815 1,364,603 1,835,876 2,308,857 2,627,352 2,772,258 2,848,978 2,882,635 

Calculated Customers (Number) 

Single Family Residence 745 1,640 3,035 4,840 6,850 8,690 9,885 10,505 10,845 11,035 

Multi-Family Residence 25 40 70 105 150 235 305 330 345 350 

Commercial – Small 16 40 77 116 157 220 271 292 302 302 

Commercial – Medium 16 37 69 99 120 136 144 147 148 148 

Commercial – Large 1 2 3 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 

Industrial 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 

Totals 805 1,761 3,256 5,167 7,286 9,291 10,615 11,284 11,650 11,845 

Key: 
mcf – thousand cubic feet 
 
Source:  CardnoENTRIX, 2014 (modified showing only IGU Customers) 
 

 



 

Page 8-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

8.3.3 Prioritization of Construction Areas for Demand 
 
The Six-Year Plan is prioritized by serving the densest service area of downtown North Pole, in 
combination with the highest known levels of PM 2.5, affecting the air quality and quality of life. 
 
The potential gas storage site (GVEA) also is adjacent to this area, so it provides for a logical 
starting point.  The subsequent phases are mapped out based on similar criteria, serving the 
highest density areas first and their proximity to the starting point, as well as the ability to 
expand what would then be an existing distribution line to outlying neighborhoods. 
 
8.3.4 Relationship to Storage and Interties 
 
The RCA required IGU to provide for a 5-day security gas storage back-up as part of granting 
IGU its CPCN.  The permanent storage is not anticipated to be on line until late in the third 
quarter of 2017.  Until then, temporary storage will need to be provided in the range of 25,000 to 
30,000 gallons.  Since the demands will be low in the first years of operation, it is anticipated 
that smaller-style tanks or mobile units will be provided. 
 
8.3.5 Cost Assumptions 
 
The distribution system is anticipated to cost $251 million, and storage/regasification is currently 
estimated at $30 million for permanent and $6 million for temporary facilities for the 2016 and 
2017 heating season while the permanent tank is being constructed. This is demonstrated in 
Table 8-2. 
 

Table 8-2 Final Cost Estimate Summary – Pipeline Layout Network 

Estimated Cost Total Cost Cost per Mile 

Pipelines 

2015 $  25,969,000 $ 284,000 

2016 $  37,016,000 $ 326,000 

2017 $  48,356,000 $ 298,000 

2018 $  57,933,000 $ 301,000 

2019 $  49,748,000 $ 263,000 

2020 $  32,650,000 $ 254,000 

Total $ 251,672,000 $ 287,000 

Storage 

Permanent $ 30,000,000 NA 

Temporary $  6,000,000 NA 

Key: 
NA – not applicable 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 8-5 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

8.4 Permitting/Right-of Way 
 
Permitting the construction and operation of the gas distribution lines in the IGU service area 
could take a year if the preparation of a National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) document is 
required.  Federally-funded, or permitted, projects require completion of a NEPA document.  For 
this project, an Environmental Assessment is likely sufficient, given current understanding of the 
work to be completed.  The design consultant will be asked to prepare the environmental 
documentation and permits for the project using their in-house environmental resources, or a 
sub-consultant. 
 
The design consultant team will also be asked to prepare a permitting plan that includes a list of 
the permits required, the issuing agency, the timeframe for securing the permit, and the 
associating activities needed to get approvals.  An overall permitting schedule will be prepared 
and updated as the project progresses.  A similar ROW plan will be developed by the design 
consultant using in-house resources, or a ROW sub-consultant.  A ROW schedule will be 
prepared and updated as the ROW work progresses. 
 
The BLM is the federal land owner and will issue permits for construction through Eielson Air 
Force Base and Fort Wainwright Army Post.  Military Base and Post Commanders must approve 
project construction, and a change of command during permitting could significantly impact the 
schedule. 
 
The BIA Revocable Use Permit must be obtained prior to conducting field work on Native 
allotments.  This permit, and the ROW across allotments, requires input from the original allottee 
or all of their heirs if the allottee has passed away.  Locating heirs can be time-consuming and 
these should be considered long lead time permits. 
 
Wetland, raptor, fisheries, and cultural resources studies may be required if information on 
potential effects on those resources does not exist for the project area. These studies must be 
conducted during the growing season. If winter construction is proposed, then a winter fisheries 
study may be required. These usually occur in February or March. Generally, field studies will 
require land owner permits or permission. Surveys using a drill rig or loader usually take longer 
to permit than surveys conducted with hand-held equipment. 
 
Permits will be needed for work within the ROW of the ADOT&PF and Alaska Railroad, along 
with the FNSB, CONP and, to some extent, the COF.  Close coordination with the planning and 
engineering group within each of these entities will be needed.  Because several of the corridors 
along the highways have controlled accesses, additional permit time will be needed to work 
through these issues with ADOT&PF.  The Alaska Railroad has indicated that at least 9 months 
should be allowed for the submittal of an application before approval will be considered. 
 
ROW activities are estimated to last about 9 months.  This duration assumes that the new 
pipeline will follow existing roads and can be placed within existing utility easements, or within 
new easements of existing road ROWs.  The only new ROW required will be for the regulator 
stations.  The siting of the stations is somewhat flexible and, consequently, they can be located to 
minimize ROW acquisition efforts.  The schedule for this activity could be adversely impacted if 



 

Page 8-6 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

any new ROW requires an eminent domain or condemnation process where ROW is acquired 
from an unwilling landowner.  Condemnation could extend the duration of this effort to 2 years 
or longer (NEI, 2012). 
 
As the preliminary designs proceed during 2014, preliminary gas distribution line layouts will 
allow for formal identification of permit and ROW requirements and, at such time, permitting 
and ROW activities will be initiated. The permitting and ROW activities will be part of the 
design consultant’s scope of work. 
 
NOTE – it is the goal of IGU to start a field program the summer of 2014. 
 
8.5 Construction Schedule 
 
IGU plans to begin construction of pipelines in 2015 to meet the 6-year build-out timeframe.  A 
previous study (NEI, 2012) recommended an 18-month period for design and permitting, along 
with an 18-month construction time frame.  To meet the 6-year timeframe, construction would 
have to begin in 2015.  This has some risk in having the time to optimize a planned out system, 
fully develop design standards, and allow time to negotiate ROW agreements or respond to 
additional requests of information from permitting agencies.  Since design work of Phase 1 will 
not be able to be completed until January 2015, IGU will need to secure funding, bid, and 
contract for the purchase pipe materials by October 2014 so the pipe material is available for 
spring construction in 2015.  The schedule for other phases of design, ROW, and permitting 
work will have additional time to be completed; however, contracting for the purchase of pipe 
materials for each phase of the work should be anticipated in order to ensure the pipe is on hand 
by the time construction contracts are bid. 
 
The schedule for the six phases is shown on Figure 8-2.  With the exception of the first year, gas 
is expected to be provided to each phase area in the beginning of the fourth quarter of the same 
year as construction.  Conversion in a phase will likely start slowly in the first year of 
constructing gas lines in an area, and then ramp up after the entire build out is completed, based 
on indications that residents’ willingness to convert is higher after the first year. 
 
  



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 8-7 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 8-2 Proposed IGU Project Schedule 

 
  



 

Page 8-8 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 9-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

9.0 OPERATIONS 
 
It is IGU’s intent to contract out the operations of the gas distribution system.  The IGU 
anticipates that a Statement of Qualification will be developed and qualified companies will be 
requested to submit and respond to a RFP.  IGU expects that services provided will include: the 
operation and maintenance of the system, PHMSA response, the customer service components of 
responding to requests for new connections, billing, and collections. 
 
IGU currently anticipates maintaining a small staff consisting of a General Manager, Chief 
Operating Officer, and a Procurement Officer to be hired in 2014. 
 
  



 

Page 9-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 10-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

10.0 CONVERSION 
 
The conversion issues considered in this section review the details and assumptions using known 
public perspectives, willingness to convert, and historical information from existing and similar 
programs and projects to determine the best possible conversion plan to attain a goal of 
converting 75% of the potential customer base to natural gas. 
 
10.1 Conversion Requirements 
 
In order for customers to convert, they require three main things (Agnew::Beck, 2013): 

1. Lower Cost of Gas – A lower cost of gas than what they are paying to heat their home 
now. At current costs of heating fuel and wood, this equates to a cost of gas at the 
customers meter in the range of $15/mcf for this to be feasible. 

2. Return on Investment – Most homeowners expect a 3- to 5-year return on investment. 

3. Incentives – Incentives to pay for the up-front costs either in a rebate program or in an 
on-bill financing (OBF) program will need to be easy to access and apply for, as well as 
ready to put into place. 

 
In a focus group led by Agnew::Beck Consulting in October 2013, most homeowners responded 
that they would prefer an OBF option, where the costs were paid for by the utility and added to 
their billing system for repayment. They indicated a higher rate of conversion after being 
presented with several different options to aide in the conversion. 
 
10.2 Efficiency 
 
During the Conversion Analysis, six heating and plumbing businesses, five in Fairbanks and one 
in Homer, were interviewed to better understand the efficiency of natural gas conversions (CE, 
2014a).  Efficiencies of converting to natural gas boilers, water heaters, and burners are based on 
the types of heating systems each home has.  Based on these responses, data collected showed 
80% of homes in Fairbanks heat with baseboard systems and 10% with forced air units.  Some 
small businesses do convert burners, but it is generally agreed that the efficiency of the system 
does not justify the costs, and replacing the system is a better use of time and money.  Generally, 
the higher the cost of a natural gas boiler the better the quality of the unit – providing a higher 
rate of efficiency (CE, 2014a). 
 
10.3 Cost Analysis of Conversions 
 
The Conversion Analysis shows that capital costs for conversions can cost on average $2,300 to 
$10,700 and depends on conversion needs – including the efficiency and quality of each model 
(CE, 2014a).  Other than totally replacing the heating unit, options include converting the burner 
($1,000 to $4,000) or installing a space heating unit ($2,000 to $3,500).  Costs include the cost of 
heating systems, piping and valves, and labor for full installation.  The costs do not include 
boiler installation permit fees of $120 for COF and $50 for CONP residents.  There is no fee for 
installation within the FNSB (CE, 2014a). 



 

Page 10-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

The Economic Impact Analysis, based on the Conversion Analysis, assumes heating system 
installation costs will flow to local heating and plumbing contractors, at an average $4,300 per 
household (CE, 2014b). 
 
IGU plans to include the cost of the distribution lines within 100 feet of a property in the project 
costs.  A decision regarding the IGU charge for a meter is still to be determined and is expected 
within 3 months. In Homer, the utility charged $1,290 for the first 100 feet and $2 per foot of 
additional line needed to be installed. Meters for the homes cost approximately $200 (CE, 
2014a). 
 
There are several options to convert based on a homeowner’s current heating system. Factors 
include (CE, 2014a): 

 Existing Heating Systems 

 Heating System Specifics 

 Conversion Options 

 Heating System Installation Process 
 
10.4 Consumer Participation 
 
Studies conclude that barriers exist for customers converting to natural gas, and the ability to pay 
for the upgrades is considered the number one biggest obstacle to overcome. To address the issue 
of financial assistance is to understand how a program can be successful by offering solutions to 
income restrictions, consumer mobility, and perception of a complicated process. 
 
Currently, the state, through the AHFC energy programs, offers residents incentives to improve 
their home heating systems and energy efficiency; however, no conversion-specific programs 
exist.  While AHFC programs have been successful throughout the state, paying for upfront costs 
for reimbursement and long waiting periods to participate may deter applicable residents.  While 
the weatherization program addresses the income restrictions by providing a program for low-
income residents, long waiting periods can be a deterrent, especially in this situation where the 
conversion timeline is limited.  Historically, the program mandates a 2-year waiting period 
before a homeowner can participate in the program, which could also be problematic for the IGU 
customer base.  While the AHFC programs can be used for this project, they should be used in 
tandem with a program specifically designed for IGU customers. 
 
One solution found to be favorable among focus group participants is the ease and accessibility 
of an OBF program. The OBF allows for someone other than the customer (usually the utility) to 
pay for the upfront energy conversion costs, adding them to the consumer’s monthly bill. This 
only works if the conversion costs plus the cost of the service is lower than the current 
customer’s monthly energy bill. There are two primary ways to administer an OBF program: as a 
loan to the customer that will need to be repaid when the customer moves, or a tariff on the 
property meter in which the loan would stay with the home (CE, 2014a). 
 
There is a concern for IGU’s ability to take on such debt in the first 2 years of operation; 
financial implications and concepts are still being reviewed. 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 11-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

11.0 FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The financial analysis includes a year-by-year consideration of rates, revenues, cost of gas, 
operating expenses, capital funding requirements, debt service, cash flow, and other financial 
elements of the IGU proposed build-out. Distribution system costs for 4,630,854 linear feet (877 
miles) of pipeline (including service lines), based on the build out plan of: 

 

 

LNG storage costs are based upon the LNG Storage Tank Cost Analysis (MBJ, 2013), and the 
cost estimate provided to AIDEA by FNG in their loan application for a 5 million gallon (MG) 
storage tank. 
 
North Slope supply and trucking costs to Fairbanks are based upon figures given to IGU by 
AIDEA, currently shown as $11.89/mcf.  The basis provided is $3.30 for the supply, $3.00 for 
liquefaction, and $5.59 for trucking (all per mcf).  The trucking cost is based upon the LNG 
Transportation Analysis by HDR dated February 2014. 
 
The key element here is that the cost of gas to IGU represents about 70% of overall costs; IGU 
does not control the primary cost component to make economics work at $15/mcf.  This is 
essentially a flow-through of actual costs. 
 
The financial model includes tools to examine financing options (grants, low-interest loans, etc.) 
and to test the sensitivity of alternative repayment terms and conditions.  Meeting the goal of a 
$15/mcf rate is a key success factor. 
 
11.1 Current Sources and Use of Funding 
 
Currently, IGU has established multiple sources of funding, as discussed below. 
 
11.1.1 FEDC Funding 
 
FEDC made a $9,500 donation to IGU in July 2014.  This was funding from private business 
owners that FEDC provided to IGU for initial startup operations and allow for flexibility as to 
use of these funds. 
 

Construction Cost $178,442,000

Materials $60,557,000

Engineering $12,146,000

Permitting $527,000

Total Cost $251,672,000



 

Page 11-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

11.1.2 FNSB Firm Fixed Price Contract 
 
This is a firm fixed price contract with the FNSB for $2,142,700.  This contract is in the form of 
an original contract with the FNSB in the amount of $319,000 and associated amendments 
totaling $1,823,700. 
 
This contract is funded by a $3 million grant from the state of Alaska to the FNSB.  IGU has the 
ability to add task to this contract with the FNSB up to that $3M total.  As of April 18, 2014, 
IGU has used $1,331,710 of this source of funding for work on the: 

 CPCN application and hearing. 

 NEI work on financing and demand. 

 FEDC support through January 1, 2014. 

 MWH support from January 18, 2014. 
 
 
11.1.3 FNSB Letter of Credit 
 
This is a $7.5M letter of credit from FNSB.  This financing will serve to provide contingency 
funding in concert with AIDEA funding.  It will also cover unanticipated increases in item costs 
to maintain cash flow.  The terms and conditions are outlined in FNSB Ordinance 2014-18, as 
follows: 

 Interest – Interest will accrue on the unpaid principal amounts from the date of each 
withdrawal was actually paid to IGU, using a 365-day year and the actual number of 126 
days outstanding.  The interest rate will be the federal funds rate on the date of the 
withdrawal, adjusted annually on January 1 to the annual rate for the preceding year. 

 Repayment – Each withdrawal amount, along with its accrued interest, will be repaid within 
three (3) years following the date the withdrawal was actually paid to IGU.  Payments will be 
applied first to accrued unpaid interest, if any, and then to principal.  The specifics of the 
repayment schedule will be determined by the Chief Financial Officer of FNSB and 
approved by the Mayor.  However, payment of unpaid balances may be accelerated without 
penalty. 

 
As of April 1, 2014, no draws against this line of credit have been made. 
 
11.1.4 AIDEA Development Loan 
 
This is an $8.1 million development loan from AIDEA.  This loan has been authorized by the 
AIDEA Board as authorized financing under SETS financing under SB 23.  As of May 1, 2014, a 
loan agreement has yet to be executed. 
 
This loan is to be used to fund IGU’s initial work needed to develop IGU’s distribution system 
and affiliated infrastructure.  To date, there have been no requests for reimbursable costs to 
AIDEA.  The general terms and conditions in the term sheet presented to the AIDEA Board on 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 11-3 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

April 3, 2014, are that financing will be a 20-month fixed line of credit at 0% interest that will 
convert into a long term note on December 30, 2015, in conjunction with the financing of IGU’s 
2015 build out.  The final terms of the note will be negotiated based on the parameters of SB 23.  
If the negotiations do not reach agreement, the note will be paid back over 40 years at 3% 
interest, commencing on January 1, 2018. 
 
11.2 Potential Sources of Future Funding 
 
IGU has three sources of future funding for this project: funding through authorizations 
contained in SB 23 through AIDEA, Revenue Bonds through IGU, and General Obligation 
Bonds through the FNSB.  A mix of SB 23 funding sources and Revenue Bonds are the most 
likely sources, with SB 23 sources being used as initial funding sources followed by Revenue 
Bond sales. 
 
11.2.1 SB 23 through AIDEA 
 
SB 23 contained three funding mechanisms for the IEP that are available to IGU through 
AIDEA: 

 Capital Funding – The legislature authorized $57.5 million in capital funding for the entire 
IEP project.  To date, AIDEA has not allocated any of the capital funding to the gas 
distribution system.  The appropriation left the use of the capital flexible between the supply 
chain of gas (gas plant, trucking, and storage) and gas distribution.  Currently, AIDEA has 
focused on financing the gas plant first. 

 SETS Funding – SB23 authorized $125 million in low cost loan funding to the project, with 
the terms and conditions of SETS funding to be determined by AIDEA.  AIDEA has released 
$8.1 million to IGU and $15 million to FNG for the initial distribution loans.  At this time, it 
is unclear how much of the remaining funding will be made available to distribution – or how 
that will be allocated between IGU and FNG.  This source of funding is the most attractive 
source to IGU, given the fact that AIDEA can set terms and conditions that are below market 
rates. 

 Bond Authority – SB23 authorized $150 million in market rate bonds to be sold to finance 
the IEP project.  Currently, it is anticipated that this financing will be at, or above, 5% over 
30 to 40 years, and will reflect market rates at the time of the sale. 

 
11.2.2 Revenue Bonds 
 
Revenue Bonds can be sold by IGU to meet distribution capital expenses.  These bonds are 
municipal bonds and will be secured by IGU’s revenue source.  It is anticipated that this source 
of funds will be the used once the SB 23 funds are exhausted and will be at market rate at the 
time of the sale. 
 



 

Page 11-4 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

11.2.3 General Obligation Bonds 
 
General Obligation Bonds can be authorized by the FNSB voters specific to the capital needs of 
IGU, and would be secured by FNSB’s pledge to repay the bond holders.  It is anticipated that 
General Obligation Bonds will not be used as a funding source for this project. 
 
11.3 Financial Modeling 
 
Best available information was used to create a financial model of IGU’s operational and capital 
costs over the next 30 years to analyze various financial conditions based on the sources of 
capital funds and associated terms and conditions.  Multiple scenarios were developed, which 
ranged from maximizing the use of SB 23 SETS funding, to meet the IEP and IGU goal of 
$15/mcf at the customers meter to only using IGU’s revenue bonding capacity.  Based upon this 
analysis, the project can meet IGU’s goals. 
 
 
 

 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 12-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

12.0 PATH FORWARD 
 
In conclusion, the Six-Year Plan has evaluated and calculated the known risks, costs, and 
communications needed to complete an aggressive and complex natural gas project.  As the 
project develops, the path to success will become clearer, especially in terms of financing, 
permitting, and public natural gas conversion.  As such, these components are based on 
information that is available and has been obtained to date, some of which will change as the 
project moves forward.  Due diligence, with respect to financial analyses, have been reviewed in 
depth, and continue to be adjusted based on the scope of work and funding allowances. 
 
A challenge early in the project will be the timeframe to prepare plans, negotiate ROWs and 
permits, purchase pipe, and contract for the construction of the Phase 1 (2015) work.  Phases 2 
through 6 will have the benefit of time, but the accelerated schedule for Phase 1 will need to be 
carefully developed and managed, as it will affect the municipal governments, regulatory 
agencies, contractors, homeowners, and others – as well as set the stage for furthering the 
project. 
 
Supply and trucking make up over 70% of the cost, storage and distribution make up the 
remainder. For the project to be successful in delivering gas near $15/mcf, it is imperative to 
secure AIDEA funds with terms and conditions that will allow this to occur. 
 
The financial sensitivity analysis shows that the project is feasible given current cost estimates 
and using the flexible funding alternatives available to AIDEA under SB 23. 
 
Vision of IGU in 5 Years 
 
In 5 years, IGU will have in place an operator and a dedicated staff, including organizational 
leadership comprised of a full-time General Manager, Chief Financial Officer, and Procurement 
Officer. 
 
The gas distribution build-out will be entering into the fifth phase of the project, and programs to 
aide in conversions and educational material will have been refined in previous years to 
appropriately recognize and answer each community’s needs. 
 
The cost of gas and the critical need to evaluate various factors impacting the cost will have been 
addressed, and IGU will be repaying their debts to the state and bond holders while generating 
revenue for the organization. 
 
  



 

Page 12-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 
 



 

Interior Gas Utility Page 13-1 
Six-Year Plan – Final May 20, 2014 

13.0 REFERENCES 
 
Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC).  2013a.  Division of Air Quality, 

https://dec.alaska.gov/air/anpms/comm/fbks1_pm.htm.  Accessed April 4. 

ADEC.  2013b.  Division of Air Quality, Website: https://dec.alaska.gov/air/anpms/pm/pm2-
5_fbks.hrm.  Accessed April 4. 

Agnew::Beck Consulting (Agnew::Beck).  2013.  Focus Group Summary Report: Fairbanks 
Liquefied Natural Gas Demand and Distribution Analysis. December. 

AIDEA.  2013.  IEP Feasibility Report.  Proposed Project – North Slope LNG Plant.  July. 
www.interiorenergyproject.com 

AIDEA.  2014.  Legislative Briefing.  http://www.interiorenergyproject.com/index.html.  March. 

CardnoENTRIX (CE).  2014a.  IEP Natural Gas Conversion Analysis.  Prepared for AIDEA. 
Project Number: 44713002.00.  January 14. 

CE.  2014b.  IEP Economic Impact Analysis.  Prepared for AIDEA.  April 1. 

Fairbanks Economic Development Corporation (FEDC).  2014. Military, Website:  
http://www.investfairbanks.com/projects/military.  Accessed March 3. 

Fairbanks North Star Borough (FNSB).  2012.  An Ordinance Acquiring an Areawide Natural 
Gas Utility Power by Transfer from the Cities of Fairbanks and North Pole Establishing the 
Interior Alaska Natural Gas Utility and Providing for its Management, Ordinance No. 2012-
52. 

Govtrack.us, S.2058 (Govtrack).  2014.  Website: 
https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/113/s2058.  Accessed March 4, 2014. 

HDR, Inc. (HDR).  2014.  LNG Transportation Analysis.  Prepared for AIDEA.  February. 

Interior Energy Project (IEP).  2013.  Local Government Workshop, Slide #4.  Website:  
http://www.interiorenergyproject.com/Resources%20and%20Documents/IEP_10913_fnsb_w
orkshop.pdf 

IEP.  2014.  Legislative Update Presentation for the week of February 10, Slide #3.  Website: 
http://www.interiorenergyproject.com/Resources%20and%20Documents/FINAL%20IEP_Le
gis_Update_February2014.pdf.  Accessed March 4, 2014. 

Interior Gas Utility (IGU).  2014.  Website Homepage: www.interiorgas.com.  Accessed 
February 24. 

Michael Baker, Jr. Inc. (MBJ).  2012.  Gas Distribution Analysis.  Prepared for AIDEA.  June 
29. 

MBJ.  2013.  LNG Storage Tank Cost Analysis.  Prepared for Interior Gas Utility.  July 19. 



 

Page 13-2 Interior Gas Utility 
May 20, 2014 Six-Year Plan – Final 

Northern Economics, Inc. (NEI).  2012.  Fairbanks North Star Borough Gas Distribution System 
Analysis.  Prepared for the Fairbanks North Star Borough.  FNSB Project Number: 11-
PWDPRJ-02.  June 29.   

NEI.  2013.  Natural Gas in the Fairbanks North Star Borough: Results from a Residential 
Household Survey.  Prepared for Interior Gas Utility.  November. 

Regulatory Commission of Alaska (RCA).  2013. Order Denying Application of Fairbanks 
Natural Gas, LLC to Amend Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and Granting, 
with Condition, Application of Interior Alaska Natural Gas Utility for Certificate of Public 
Convenience and Necessity. Order No. 19, U-13-103, 35 pgs. 

 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
IGU Project Phases 1 through 6 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  















 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX B 
 
IGU Project Class 4 (+50%/-30%) Cost Estimate 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



















White Paper 

Status of Gas Distribution System   

City of North Pole and Surrounding Area 

IGU - 12/9/14 

 

 

Background 

 

The Interior Gas Utility (IGU) is charged with establishing a distribution system for the communities 

surrounding the core of the City of Fairbanks.  IGU was issued a Certificate of Public Convenience and 

Necessity (CPCN) to provide that service in December 2013.  IGU contracted with MWH to provide 

project management and technical expertise on the build-out of its distribution system beginning 

January 2014. 

 

In past 11 months IGU has targeted activity with the stated goal of beginning construction on the 

distribution system in the summer of 2015.  To that end, IGU has arranged financing; conducted ROW, 

permitting, and design fieldwork in the North Pole area; contracted for system design; solicited pipe for 

the system; solicited for a system operator; and evaluated storage options.  This has been accomplished 

on time and on budget based upon the work plan presented to AIDEA as part of the financing package. 

 

IGU’s gas distribution system is part of a larger “Interior Energy Project” whereby North Slope gas will be 

liquefied, trucked to the utilities, and distributed through local distribution systems, IGU and FNG, to 

community residents and businesses.  The community goal of gas at $15/mcf (the equivalent of $2/gal 

fuel oil) remains the target price for IGU’s delivery to the CoNP residents and businesses. 

 

 

Placement of City of North Pole (CoNP) in IGU Six Year Construction Plan 

 

IGU’s Six-Year build out plan is being used to guide construction and financing decisions.  A copy of the 

Six-Year Plan is available at interiorgas.com.  Phase 1 of the construction plan involves construction of 

the distribution system in the City of North Pole and the close surrounding area.  A map depicting the six 

phases of construction is attached to this white paper.   

 

North Pole was selected as the construction starting point for a number of reasons, including:   

1. proximity to GVEA turbines and storage site;  

2. the population density in North Pole; 

3. the severity of the PM2.5 air quality problems in the area;  

4. need to build out in a phased approach across a six year period. 

 

Status of Design, Engineering and ROW for Phase 1 (including CoNP) 

 

In July 2014 IGU contracted with local engineering firms PDC and Michael Baker Jr (MBJ) to perform 

ROW and permitting work in the Phase 1 area.  PDC was given the responsibility for design of the Phase 

1 system and preparation of the bid specifications for the construction contractors.   

http://www.interiorgas.com/


PDC has submitted, on time and on budget, the 35% and the 65% designs for the system.  Concurrently, 

PDC prepared the bid specs for the 80 miles of pipe that will be used by the contractors in the summer 

of 2015.  The pipe order needs to be placed this winter in order to have it delivered FOB North Pole in 

time for construction this coming summer.   Bid documents are being prepared for ROW clearing that 

will need to occur during the early spring of 2015.  The ROW timing is a permit requirement related to 

avoiding bird nesting periods. 

 

 

 

Critical Benchmarks for Phase 1 (including CoNP) Construction, Summer 2015 

 

 

Ordering of Pipe        Dec/Jan 

Financing of Phase 1 Construction by AIDEA     Jan  

Negotiation with Contract System Operator     Jan 

Completion of Bid Documents / Issuance of Construction Bids   Jan 

Issuance of ROW clearing bids       Jan 

Award of System Operator Contract      Feb 

Delivery of Pipe         Mar/April 

ROW Clearing         Mar/April 

Evaluation and Award of Construction Contracts     April 

Contractor Mobilization        April/May 

Summer Construction        May/Oct 

 

A map depicting the three areas presently planned to be bid is attached to this white paper.  

Information on the contractor, actual costs, and schedules will be available once bids are opened, 

evaluated, and awarded. 

 

 

 

Supply Chain Logistics and Projected Costs 

 

The Interior Energy Project, managed by AIDEA, includes a gas supply contract; a liquefaction plant on 

the North Slope; a trucking consortium; storage and regas; and distribution.  Work on the North Slope 

plant, the pricing expected from that plant, and other components of the supply chain have progressed 

slower than originally planned.  Based on information from AIDEA and other publically available sources, 

IGU provided the FNSB Assembly a target price projection of $20.50/mcf in November.  AIDEA has 

indicated that they believe a more correct number is $19.50/mcf, with the hope that those numbers will 

come down; however no firm numbers from the supply chain team have been made publically available 

since then.  Finally, first gas is projected for Sep/Oct 2016, making conversions for the 2016-17 heating 

season a challenge. 

 

Clearly, at a price of $20/mcf instead of $15/mcf, the economics of the project are challenged.  The 

ability/willingness of residents and businesses to convert decrease as prices rise.  At $20/mcf, gas prices 



are not competitive with wood, significantly reducing the positive impact low-cost gas could have on 

severe air quality issues. Most importantly, the economic relief sought by individuals, businesses and the 

community as a whole are not achieved by a project that does not deliver on the target of cutting 

energy costs in half through the introduction of low cost gas.   

 

It is expected that there will be an effort by the Walker/Mallot Administration to take actions that will 

bring the cost of gas to the residents/businesses back in line with original project goals.  IGU will support 

that effort.  

 

Summary 

 

IGU is moving forward on the path of installing gas distribution pipe in the City of North Pole in the 

summer of 2015.  Challenges exist in the supply chain relative to both cost and timing.  IGU will continue 

to work toward: 

 

 $15 gas to the meter 

 Advance build-out of distribution infrastructure (Including maintaining Summer 2015 

construction in the CONP) 

 A supply chain that brings gas to the community as quickly as possible 

 A conversion program with financing options for utilities, consumers, and businesses 

 

AIDEA will be making the decisions this January on the amount and type of funding being made available 

for construction in the CoNP for the summer of 2015.  There will be pressure on project financing and 

questions of uncertainty in the supply chain that will lead some to urge delay of distribution 

infrastructure.  To the extent CoNP supports construction in the summer of 2015 and the target of $15 

gas to residents and businesses, the CoNP would want to consider a formal position statement at this 

time while decisions impacting the IEP are being made. 

 

 



DESIGN OF A NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION 
SYSTEM IN THE FAIRBANKS AREA (PHASE 1)

PHASE 1: 65%
FIGURE: CONSTRUCTION ZONES
10/30/2014

SIXTH
(NP)

SANTA
CLAUS

PATRIOT
EVOLYNBLANKET

SHAYLEE

LINEMAN

SWEET
LEW

LOOMIS

TA
NA

NA

SE
AV

Y

FR
EE

DO
M

GO
RD

ON

NORTH
STAR

NE
WB

Y

FL
IG

HT

PROBERT

TOPS

AIRWAY

FIFTH
(NP)

PERIMETER

BRANCH

ERIN

PE
RI

DO
T

DY
KE

DA
WS

ON

KALTAG

LA
RI

X

SAINTNICHOLAS

BLACKSTONE

FIFTH

HO
LL

AN
D

AV
IAT

IO
N

HOUGHTON
HILL

MELLOW
WOODS

MISS
ION

CONIFER

FINELL

SILVERLEAF

N.P.H.S.

GRANITE AR
LE

NE

HO
ME

ST
EA

D

WYATT
OUIDA

PARK

BLESSING
KENSINGTON

AR
MI

ST
IC

E

MAVENCAMP

BADGER

LA
KE

WOOD

VF
W

NE
LS

ON

TANADA

LYLE

TR
EA

TY

DUBIA

MISTLETOE

HELENSDALE

OU
TS

ID
E

VO
YA

GE
R

BUZBY

HURST
DURHAM

ON
YX

OLDRICHARDSON

LA
URAN

CE

RICHARDSON

ZONE A
24.2MILES

ZONE C
19.2MILES

ZONE B
29.9MILES

SLGH

PO
L

PO
L

PO
L

RR

RR

RR

RR

POL

POL

PO
L

PO
L

PO
LPO

L

PO
L

POL

PO
L

POL SLGH

SLGH SLGH

SLGH

SLGH

SLGH

HWY

HW
Y

SLGH

SLGH

HW
Y

[0 970 1,940 2,910485
Feet

Legend
HDD Boring

2"
4"
8"

65% Gas Pipe
2" gas
4" gass
8" gas
<all other values>

Notes
ZONE A
ZONE B
ZONE C




























	AG-12-15-14
	Min-11-24-14
	Min-12-01-14
	2015 Regular Scheduled Council Meetings
	2015 xmas potluck
	2015 Council Roster
	Platform Truck Dedication Invitation
	Service Awards for 2014
	Bill of Rights
	Ord 14-29 Title 8 04 160 Disturbing the peace
	Res 14-21 2015 Bed tax dist
	Res 14-22 2015 IGU gas support res
	6 year plan IGU May-20-14
	12 9 14_CoNP White Paper - final
	12 9 14_CoNP White Paper - final
	Contract Boundaries_14y11m10d
	Six_Phase_buildout
	Ord-12-18-Transfer-of-Natural-Gas-Utility-Power-to-FNSB
	Ord-5896-as-Amended-Approving-Utility-Power-Transfer-to-FNSB
	Reso-4566-Supporting-Funding-for-Natural-Gas-System








